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          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Welcome to

          3  today's Finance Committee's Hearing on the Mayor's

          4  Preliminary Budget for the Fiscal Year 2007.

          5                 My name is David Weprin.  I Chair the

          6  Council's Finance Committee.  This morning's Budget

          7  Hearing is in conjunction with the Council's

          8  Education Committee, Chaired by my colleague,

          9  Council Member Robert Jackson, as we review the

         10  proposed Capital and Expense Budget of the

         11  Department of Education and the School Construction

         12  Authority.

         13                 Just a couple of months ago, when we

         14  met for the fiscal year  '07 Preliminary Budget

         15  Hearing, the Council's highest priority was to make

         16  sure that the Five- Year Educational Capital Plan,

         17  the Capital Plan, remained fully funded.

         18                 At that time, the state had still

         19  refused to comply with the Campaign for Fiscal

         20  Equity ruling that directed the state to provide

         21  $9.2 billion in capital funding to the City over

         22  five years.  As a result, the City was facing the

         23  prospect of $3.5 billion in cuts to the City's

         24  Capital Plan.

         25                 At that Hearing, I wanted to make
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          2  sure that the Department would be able to fulfill

          3  its commitments to the Capital Plan and the

          4  Department and the School Construction Authority

          5  would not fall behind on the Plan.  This Council was

          6  not going to let Albany off the hook.  We also had

          7  no intention of letting the Plan unravel and failing

          8  our New York City's children.

          9                 Today I am extremely pleased to

         10  announce that the New York State Budget, passed by

         11  the legislature on March 30th this year, provides

         12  the City with the state's 50 percent share of the

         13  $13.1 billion of the Five- Year Education Plan.

         14  Specifically, the fiscal year  '07 state budget will

         15  provide the City with $1.8 billion in aid and

         16  authorizes an additional $9.4 billion in TFA

         17  financing.  Together, these amounts will finally

         18  provide the City with $6.5 billion in capital funds,

         19  an amount that will make the five year plan, as

         20  adopted by the Council in June, 2004, whole.

         21                 The City will finally have the

         22  funding it needs to construct 21 new schools and

         23  provide 15,000 new classroom seats. I would like to

         24  applaud the Governor, Speaker Silver and Majority

         25  Leader Bruno for doing the right thing in helping
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          2  New York City build new sign slabs, playgrounds,

          3  libraries and gyms and to provide our City's

          4  children with the educational opportunities they

          5  deserve.

          6                 Despite the good news regarding the

          7  City's Education Capital Plan, I am frustrated to

          8  note that the Administration has included over $23

          9  million in hidden cuts to the Department of Expense

         10  budget to programs funded in the last couple of

         11  years.  These cuts affect initiatives the Council

         12  supports, such as Teacher's Choice, a program which

         13  reimburses teachers for their classroom purchases;

         14  Urban Advantage, a collaboration between science

         15  teachers and City's museums to help students meet

         16  state science standards; and the Attendance,

         17  Improvement and Dropout Prevention Program.

         18                 Given the City's financial rebound,

         19  these education cuts are simply unacceptable.  This

         20  Committee and the Council will work hard to restore

         21  the cuts made to these programs.

         22                 Following the testimony of these

         23  agencies, we'll hear testimony in conjunction with

         24  my colleague, Council Member Bill de Blasio, who

         25  Chairs the General Welfare Committee, on the budget
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          2  of the Department of Social Services/Human Resources

          3  Administration.  I am particularly interested in

          4  hearing from the Department to determine why the

          5  Mayor has not restored cuts to the Managed Care

          6  Consumer Assistance Program and the Emergency Food

          7  Program.  These cuts were restored by the Council

          8  just last year.

          9                 We have a number of colleagues that

         10  are here.  Let me briefly introduce them.  We have

         11  Council Member Simcha Felder from Brooklyn; Council

         12  Member Alan Gerson from Manhattan; Council Member

         13  Jimmy Vacca from the Bronx; Council Member Dan

         14  Garodnick from Manhattan; Council Member Miguel

         15  Martinez from Manhattan; Council Member Maria del

         16  Carmen Arroyo from the Bronx; Council Member Yvette

         17  Clarke from Brooklyn; Council Member Lew Fidler from

         18  Brooklyn; Council Member John Liu from Queens.

         19                 I will now turn the microphone over

         20  to my Co Chair, Robert Jackson, Chair of the

         21  Education Committee.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you

         23  David, Chair of the Finance Committee.  I appreciate

         24  the opportunity to be a part of this Executive

         25  Budget Hearing process and we're winding down the
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          2  final days of it.  I believe the final day is

          3  tomorrow, is that correct?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  That is correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, let me

          6  just say that it is a pleasure to work with you as

          7  the Chair of the Finance Committee.  As you know, I

          8  do sit on the Finance Committee, so we've been

          9  sitting for many, many days and for a couple of

         10  weeks --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Many, many

         12  years.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Many, many

         14  years, hearing the testimonies over several

         15  Executive Budgets.  But, today, we're here, at this

         16  particular moment, to talk about education and the

         17  education budget.  So, I will keep my opening

         18  remarks brief given the limited amount of time we

         19  have to review the Department's proposed $15.3

         20  billion expense budget and the newly amended $13.2

         21  billion Five- Year Capital Plan.

         22                 The Department's proposed operating

         23  budget includes $286 million increase in City tax

         24  levy supported spending and $164 million more in

         25  state aid revenue, that the Preliminary Budget for

                                                            9

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2  fiscal 2007 had.  The majority of this additional

          3  support is budgeted to cover the cost increases

          4  associated with personnel and contractual services.

          5                 Funding added in the Executive Plan

          6  for new programs comprises a relatively small

          7  component of the budget increase.  Some of the new

          8  initiatives and program expansions are the opening

          9  of several new charter schools and 41 DOE schools,

         10  expansion of the Multiple Pathways Program, and the

         11  launching of the Accountability Initiative,

         12  announced by the Chancellor approximately two

         13  months.

         14                 Cost increases, changes in state and

         15  federal revenue, spending choices and programmatic

         16  initiatives are all areas that we hope to discuss

         17  with the Chancellor this morning. Of course, he has

         18  with him the Deputy Chancellor for Finance and

         19  Administration, Kathleen Grimm and also their Budget

         20  Director, Susan Olds, she's the Budget Director.

         21  So, all of plan to discuss this with them this

         22  morning.

         23                 Following our review of the Expense

         24  Budget, the Department will be joined by SCA, the

         25  School Construction Authority, to discuss the
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          2  Department's Capital Budget and the SCA's

          3  implementation of its capital program.  As you know,

          4  my colleagues, we just received approximately, about

          5  a week ago, the updated, amended part of the Five-

          6  Year Capital Plan that was submitted by DOE.

          7                 So, with that, we are now ready to

          8  hear from the Chancellor and his top staff regarding

          9  the Executive Budget for '07.  So, Chancellor,

         10  welcome this morning to you and your top staff.  Can

         11  you press the button, Chancellor.

         12                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I said thank you

         13  very much Chairman Jackson, Chairman Weprin, Members

         14  of the Education and Finance Committees.  As you

         15  pointed out, I am accompanied by two colleagues this

         16  morning and I thank you for your courtesy in hearing

         17  us on these important issues.

         18                 I know we're going to focus on

         19  capital later, but I did want to echo what David

         20  Weprin said, which is I think working together, the

         21  Administration and the Council did an extraordinary

         22  job in getting our Capital Budget funded with the

         23  state and this is going to have multiple, multiple

         24  positive effects over the next many years.

         25                 I am enormously grateful for the
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          2  assistance we got from the entire Council.  I'll

          3  probably make a mistake, but I do want to single out

          4  Chairman Jackson for his leadership on this issue.

          5  You were the lead plaintiff in CFE, you were there

          6  on lobby day and you helped, I think, organize

          7  parents effectively to prioritize and you've been,

          8  really, just absolutely relentless on this issue.

          9  On behalf of our 1.1 million children, I thank you

         10  and all of your colleagues for your leadership.

         11                 Turning to our Operating Budget.

         12  This year, as you pointed out, our Operating Budget,

         13  without pension and debt service is $15.3 billion,

         14  which is up from our 2006 forecast of $14.87

         15  billion.  This reflects an increase of approximately

         16  $450 million.  However, as a result of the removal

         17  of certain federal one- time revenues, our actual

         18  increase in available new dollars, baseline dollars,

         19  is just over $600 million.

         20                 The majority of this year's increases

         21  to our budget will pay for teacher and other staff

         22  raises under our new contract with the UFT, as well

         23  as for the provision of core services, contract

         24  services, as well as our ongoing Children First

         25  reforms.
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          2                 Last year, we negotiated an agreement

          3  with the teachers to pay them 15 percent more in

          4  exchange for substantial reform, including

          5  lengthening the school day by, school year by two

          6  days, increasing the time teachers spend on

          7  instruction and support activities and empowering

          8  principals by boosting their authority over hiring

          9  decisions.

         10                 The DOE will spend $212 million of

         11  its $600 million additional budget money for these

         12  salary increases.  In addition, we gave $518 million

         13  to, the City gave $518 million to the DOE over the

         14  course of 2006 fiscal year to pay for the expected

         15  settlement with the UFT.

         16                 Our new spending on teacher salaries

         17  will reduce our new resources to $388 million.  We

         18  must spend the vast majority of that on

         19  uncontrollable costs, including fuel, energy,

         20  transportation and mandated special education

         21  services, including services for students who go to

         22  private schools.  This leaves approximately $120

         23  million for new discretionary DOE programs that I'd

         24  like to discuss with you this morning.

         25                 We plan to use those discretionary
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          2  funds to finance the expansion of one of our core

          3  reform efforts, creating great options for each and

          4  every one of our elementary, middle and high school

          5  students.  We'll spend almost $34 million to create

          6  new alternatives, including opening 53 schools, of

          7  which 12 will be charters.  The remainder will be

          8  public schools.

          9                 We'll be closing down 18 persistently

         10  underperforming schools and we will be helping our

         11  undercredited and overaged students, students that

         12  this Council has appropriately focused on with us.

         13  We're going to help them through the creation of

         14  three new Young Adult Borough Centers, four new

         15  enhanced GED programs, programs that I think will be

         16  far more effective than some in the past, and a

         17  replication of one of our most highly successful

         18  transfer schools in South Brooklyn.

         19                 All of these programs will have

         20  vocational enhancements through our Learning to Work

         21  initiative, which we launched last year.  And we'll

         22  also be adding that Learning to Work to three

         23  existing programs.

         24                 Taking together these initiatives

         25  represent our effort to create high quality options
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          2  and alternatives for all of our public school

          3  students.  Over the past four years, I think there's

          4  little doubt we have built the most ambitious small

          5  school program in the country, providing thousands

          6  of students, especially in underserved

          7  neighborhoods, with high quality opportunities.  I

          8  want to emphasize that  --   Good morning Madam

          9  Speaker.  Good.  It's all right, I understand you're

         10  being honored today, so congratulations to you.

         11  What's the honor?  Oh, I'm sorry.

         12                 By September, we will have opened 185

         13  new small secondary schools that will serve 50,000

         14  students throughout the City in the 2006/2007 school

         15  year and 59 charter schools that will, in the

         16  upcoming years, serve about 15,000 students

         17  throughout our City, again, largely in our highest

         18  needs communities.

         19                 Our multiple pathways to graduation,

         20  meanwhile, are providing hope to thousands of

         21  struggling students who needed fresh starts and new

         22  perspectives.  In our first year, our Learning to

         23  Work initiative served more than 6,000 students,

         24  helping them to reengage in school and prepare for

         25  the workforce. More than 2,000 of these students,
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          2  and I want to underscore this, more than 2,000 of

          3  these students, for the first time, are

          4  participating in internships at New York City

          5  businesses and government offices.

          6                 This past year, we created nine new

          7  Young Adult Borough Centers in the City on top of

          8  the nine that we already have.  Throughout the City,

          9  these new centers educate about 2,250 high school

         10  students who otherwise would be dropping out of our

         11  school system altogether.

         12                 These options are engaging students

         13  and their families.  They're teaching all schools in

         14  this City the importance of providing choice and the

         15  value of recognizing the unique needs of students

         16  and tailoring our programs to those individuals,

         17  rather than trying to tailor those individuals to

         18  the school's programs.

         19                 I think we're making real progress.

         20  Last year, 83 percent of our charters outperformed

         21  their district in math and English and 78 percent of

         22  those charters outperformed the entire City- wide

         23  average on math and English.  This year, we'll have

         24  the first class of graduates from our new small

         25  schools.
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          2                 The finest, final numbers aren't in

          3  yet, so this is probably risky, but I'm going to

          4  predict that the initial results will be very

          5  promising.  These schools are meeting with true

          6  success and they are serving the same kids who, in

          7  the past, dropped out of large comprehensive high

          8  schools often at a rate of more than 60 percent.  We

          9  want to keep these good results coming for our City

         10  and for our kids.

         11                 New schools and programs aren't the

         12  only solution in our school system, but they're one

         13  crucial element in our fight to create great choices

         14  to some of our highest needs kids. I'm pleased that

         15  we're continuing this effort in the coming year.

         16                 In addition, we're going to allocate

         17  $39.5 million of our new funds to support the

         18  creation, expansion and continuation of a range of

         19  other key Children First initiatives. This includes,

         20  as the Chairman referenced, funds for our new

         21  comprehensive Accountability initiative.  In the

         22  coming year we plan to spend $20 million to pay to

         23  develop this City- wide initiative.  We've just sent

         24  information about it to all parents throughout the

         25  City and I can tell you we're getting a very strong
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          2  and positive response.

          3                 In addition, seven million of these

          4  new funds will support our Lead Teacher program, a

          5  terrific program we negotiated with the UFT, where

          6  we'll pay excellent teachers $10,000.00 extra to

          7  mentor their peers and teach in 100, 100 of our most

          8  challenging schools.  Each of those schools will get

          9  two lead teachers.  This is an important step toward

         10  attracting our best teachers to the schools where we

         11  need them the most.

         12                 We're also launching a initiative

         13  again in collaboration with the UFT, to pay up to

         14  200 new math and science teachers housing bonuses of

         15  approximately $15,000.00 over three years.  We've

         16  set aside a million dollars for the program this

         17  year, which I think will help us attract teachers

         18  with expertise in shortage areas to our schools.

         19  Again, I think we're being smart in trying to make

         20  sure we get the talent that our kids need.

         21                 We will also pay the salaries of our

         22  aspiring principals in the Leadership Academy for

         23  the first time.  The City is going to take on this

         24  cost after three years of private finance because we

         25  believe our long- term effort to train great leaders
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          2  for our schools is critical.  Giving principals the

          3  tools and the support they need to take on the

          4  challenges they will face as school leaders is

          5  essential to our overall success.  I know this

          6  because I've seen the impact of the school leaders

          7  that we've put in our high needs schools over the

          8  past couple of years.

          9                 Other highlights in the budget

         10  include $16.3 million for 286 new school safety

         11  agents, many people on this Council have talked to

         12  me about that, an additional $2 million to expand

         13  and improve translation services for our non-

         14  English speaking families, which this Council was

         15  instrumental in working with us to achieve.

         16                 In the past year, this Translation

         17  and Interpretation Unit has really significantly

         18  expanded its services and I think if you talk to the

         19  communities that we've been working with, you'll

         20  find that we are moving forward in an efficient and

         21  an effective way.

         22                 As for individual schools, they will

         23  receive approximately the same level of funding as

         24  they did in the prior year, unless they experience

         25  changes to their registers, average teacher salary
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          2  or special ed. Enrollment.  That's what we've been

          3  doing for the past couple of years.

          4                 We sent the Preliminary Budgets to

          5  the schools earlier this year.  We reviewed the

          6  formulas with all the Community Educational Councils

          7  in March.  Ms. Grimm and her team did a superb job.

          8  We held hearings and received comments from the

          9  CEC's and the schools received their budgets in

         10  April, a full month earlier than last year.  All of

         11  this is part of our continuing effort to increase

         12  discretion for our principals and give them the

         13  power they need to lead their schools.

         14                 This idea of empowering principals

         15  with the tools they need to make decisions and then

         16  holding them accountable for the results in student

         17  performance is at the heart of our Children First

         18  education reforms.  This is why we sent our budget

         19  allocations out early.  This is why we're constantly

         20  searching for ways to reallocate our resources, so

         21  that every possible dollar is sent directly to

         22  schools and to our kids.

         23                 In the fall, hundreds of our

         24  principals have volunteered to become Empowerment

         25  School principals and they will, as a result, have
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          2  access to new funds, which they will be able to use

          3  to buy goods and services that they need to run

          4  their schools, rather than get goods and services

          5  that we in the bureaucracy thought they needed to

          6  run their schools.  I think this is a major step in

          7  the right direction and it means giving our

          8  principals the powers to make decisions and choose

          9  their own paths towards success.

         10                 Over the past few years, we've put

         11  hundreds and millions more into our classrooms and

         12  we will continue to do that.  As I announced in

         13  January, we're committing to, we are committed to

         14  cutting our bureaucracy over the next several years

         15  by another $200 million and redirecting those

         16  savings to our schools, so that our students benefit

         17  as much as possible.

         18                 While we are receiving more funding

         19  from the City and state this year, unfortunately, we

         20  have to sustain a $22 million cut to our federal

         21  Title One dollars because Congress allocated less

         22  money to the program this year.  That could mean

         23  that schools with a high proportion of poor students

         24  see cuts to some of their programs.  We are working

         25  with the City to try to prevent those losses.  This
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          2  is a shame, but it will not distract us from our

          3  goal, providing the education that our children need

          4  and deserve.

          5                 We must continue doing everything we

          6  can to improve our schools, set high expectations

          7  for our students, teachers and principals and make

          8  sure our children achieve their potential.  Thank

          9  you.  We look forward to continuing to work with

         10  each Member of this Council and I look forward to

         11  answering your questions today.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you

         13  Chancellor.  We've been joined by our Speaker,

         14  Christine Quinn, as well as Council Member David

         15  Yassky from Brooklyn and our Minority Leader,

         16  Councilman Jim Oddo from Staten Island.

         17                 Just a couple of quick question and I

         18  know my Co Chair has a number of questions and our

         19  colleagues have a number of questions.

         20                 One is, I want to thank you and the

         21  Mayor for the cooperative effort of working together

         22  with the Speaker and the Council, as you testified

         23  earlier, on getting the capital money that the City

         24  deserved for so many years.  It just goes to show

         25  that, I think, when the Mayor and the Council are
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          2  working together in Albany, we can get things done

          3  and hopefully we can model that at the federal level

          4  and try to work in Washington to try to get some of

          5  these cuts to Washington.

          6                 Have you had discussions, and your

          7  testimony referred to the Title One cuts at the

          8  federal level, do you have a plan in place or a

          9  strategy in place to kind of work on, you know,

         10  achieving or trying to combat some of those federal

         11  cuts? I know that there's been a number of cuts over

         12  the years and I know you have an office, the Mayor

         13  has an office in Washington. Is there a strategy in

         14  place and how can we at the Council be helpful in

         15  that strategy?

         16                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  As you know,

         17  Washington works in sometimes curious ways, but we

         18  do have a strategy.  We've worked with Senator Shuma

         19  (phonetic), with Senator Hillary and her office and

         20  our Washington people have worked closely with them.

         21    Obviously, our Congress people from New York have

         22  been very supportive and we've built coalitions with

         23  other large, urban cities who are very concerned

         24  about that.

         25                 At this point, the budget is locked
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          2  for this year. We're going to see what kind of

          3  restoration we can get for the following year.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay.  Well,

          5  once again, I'd like to reiterate, you know, that we

          6  at the Council would like to be a part of that

          7  process and as helpful as possible and hopefully

          8  together we can do an effective lobbying effort.

          9                 Let me just touch on the issue of

         10  some of the decline in student enrollment.  There's

         11  a projected decline in student enrollment result in

         12  a number of classes in grade K through three with,

         13  actually, in general the Department of Education

         14  projects, I think 893,000 students enrolled in

         15  kindergarten through 12 in the schools, which is

         16  about 23,800 students less than the projected

         17  enrollment for fiscal  '06. Will that decline result

         18  in less students in classes K through three or the

         19  other classes?

         20                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  It's hard to tell

         21  at this point Chairman Weprin, and the reason is as

         22  follows  --  Hi  -- the reason is as follows:

         23  Obviously, in any particular school, the numbers

         24  right now of K to three are all very close to 20 to

         25  one, 21 to one.  It will depend on really how many
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          2  students.  So, if you have 83 students, you have

          3  four classes.  If you have 85 students, you have

          4  four classes.  So, we're going to work with the

          5  schools, but a City- wide decline doesn't result in

          6  a predictable effect on this.

          7                 What I can say, which the record is

          8  clear about and which has been well documented, is

          9  that under this Administration we have continued to

         10  lower class size in the early grades.  If we get,

         11  the capital enables us to do the job better by

         12  building more classrooms and the other CFE money by

         13  further lowering class size.  So, I think we're on

         14  the right path.  The actual numbers for the next

         15  school year we'll get you as soon as we have them

         16  when we hear from our schools.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  That's good.  As

         18  you know, the Council, for a number of years, has

         19  been advocating for smaller class sizes.  I know

         20  Speaker Quinn has taken a strong position on that,

         21  as well as the City Council.  So, you know, clearly,

         22  that is obviously a priority of the Council and we'd

         23  like to try to work with you as best as possible to

         24  achieve reduction in class sizes.

         25                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  It's a very
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          2  important issue, but it's got to be coupled.  I

          3  think this is one of the things that I want to make

          4  sure we focus on together, lower class size and

          5  highly effective teachers.  Because, you've got to

          6  work both policies simultaneously because,

          7  otherwise, if you lower class size, we've seen what

          8  happened in California and it did not work out well

          9  in California, because they didn't do it wisely.  I

         10  know this Council wants to make sure that as we

         11  continue to lower class size in our City, we do it

         12  in a way that also improves the quality of teaching

         13  for our kids.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.  What

         15  about high schools?  Obviously, I know about a year

         16  ago we had a major problem with significant

         17  overcrowding, more particularly even in high schools

         18  than some of the lower schools.  I know in my

         19  district alone, the Cardoza High School was probably

         20  either the first or the second most overcrowded

         21  school at the beginning of the school year, not this

         22  past September, but the September before.  That,

         23  little by little, got reduced and I know that was,

         24  some of that overcrowding was relieved.  What do you

         25  anticipate to be the situation coming in September
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          2   --

          3                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I think it will be

          4  better.  I think we'll continue to see the reduction

          5  in overcrowding. Obviously, we won't see the levels

          6  we'd like to see reduced until we start to build

          7  some of the new schools, but I think through our

          8  high school admissions process in which 72 percent

          9  of our students got their first choice, first three

         10  choices this year, which is remarkable, I think what

         11  you're seeing is better distribution.  The opening

         12  of new small schools has led to that result too.

         13                 The problem, which I've discussed

         14  with this Council many times, is a place like

         15  Cardoza High School is overcrowded because parents

         16  and kids want to go there, reminds of Yogi Berra's

         17  line, you know, nobody goes to that restaurant

         18  anymore, it's too crowded.  But, at Cardoza, they

         19  keep going and Cardoza's not unique.

         20                 The only way we're going to

         21  effectively deal with that is create meaningful

         22  options that parents will find acceptable in your

         23  community and other communities throughout the City.

         24    That's what we're doing.  That's why our new

         25  schools initiative is so important.  It's also why
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          2  the Mayor announced and what we're in the process of

          3  doing is opening up seven new specialized schools or

          4  screened schools throughout the City, to create the

          5  options that are necessary.

          6                 But, overall, Chairman Weprin, next

          7  year I think what you'll see is in the highly

          8  overcrowded schools a continuing move toward less

          9  crowding, but there will still be too many people at

         10  Cardoza High School.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay.  Well, we

         12  look forward to working with you on reducing that.

         13  We've been joined by some more colleagues.  We have

         14  Council Member Albert Vann from Brooklyn, Council

         15  Member Eric Gioia from Queens, and Council Member

         16  Diana Reyna from Brooklyn and Queens and Councilman

         17  Domenic M. Recchia, Junior, from Brooklyn and

         18  Council Member Peter Vallone, Junior, from Queens.

         19                 I'm now going to turn it over to my

         20  Co- Chair, Council Member Robert Jackson, for some

         21  questions.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.  I'm

         23  going to move to my colleagues right away Chairman

         24  Weprin and our first colleague  --  I want to remind

         25  my colleagues that the questioning is on the
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          2  Executive Budget expense, not capital. Capital is

          3  this afternoon, when FCA will be here and that's

          4  scheduled, I believe, at 12.  So, I'm asking you to

          5  please, don't embarrass me by asking capital

          6  questions, only ask expense questions.  Thank you.

          7  My first colleague is Council Member Lew Fidler of

          8  Brooklyn.  Lew.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Thank you Mr.

         10  Chairman. Good morning Chancellor, Deputy

         11  Chancellors.  I hope that we'll have the opportunity

         12  to see you next week as we talk about one of my

         13  favorite topics, cell phones, and that later this

         14  year we will get an opportunity to go back to an

         15  issue that you just spoke to Chairman Weprin about,

         16  which is the high school admission process, which in

         17  my office we call it mission by dart board. I'd love

         18  to know at that time how many children are assigned

         19  to a school which was none of their choices, because

         20  those are the people that we hear from  --

         21                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Sure.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --  Not the

         23  70 percent who get what they asked for.  Just one

         24  item of clean up before I get to my other favorite

         25  topic, which I'm sure you're prepared to talk about,
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          2  which is gifted and talented programs.  At the Youth

          3  Services Budget Oversight Hearing, the Commissioner

          4  was not able to really explain to, with any kind of

          5  clarity, why there is money in the DYCD budget for

          6  charter schools.  Do you have an explanation for

          7  that?

          8                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I don't, but I can

          9  give you what I suspect is the explanation, is

         10  they're probably covering some of the after school

         11  programs is  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  No, actually,

         13  that was absolutely not her answer  --

         14                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  All right, well

         15   --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --  She said

         17  something about the purchase of supplies and we were

         18  just wondering why it wouldn't be under your aegis

         19  and why it would be at DYCD.  It's just kind of

         20  curious that neither of you seems to know the

         21  answer, it's, I guess we need to ask Mr. Page,

         22  unless you know.

         23                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Ms. Grimm will get

         24  you the, she said it's a technical issue, she'll get

         25  you the answer.  I, obviously, what I tell the
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          2  students I should have followed and not guessed.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay.  Very

          4  good.  It's, you get points off for wrong answers,

          5  leaving them out, it's. Okay, I imagine you're

          6  expecting to hear questions from me about gifted and

          7  talented programs and you are.

          8                 We got some answers to the questions

          9  I had asked you and left open at the Preliminary

         10  Budget Hearing last Friday. I've had a brief

         11  opportunity to review some of the information you

         12  provided and I'm still a little bit puzzled.  You

         13  indicated that DOE spends $3.8 million on promoting

         14  training and costs to open gifted and talented

         15  programs.  Was that in last year's budget or is it

         16  in this year's budget?

         17                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  This year's

         18  budget, I'm being told it's this year's budget.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And in the

         20  prior year's budget, what was the  --  does that

         21  reflect an increase, a decrease, staying the same?

         22                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  That  --  stays

         23  the same? Three  --  this current year's up by point

         24  eight million, so.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I'm sorry,
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          2  this year's.

          3                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  1.8 from two to

          4  3.8, so it's up by $1.8 million from last year.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And how many

          6  self contained gifted and talented programs do you

          7  anticipate opening with that additional money?

          8                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  17 new gifted and

          9  talented self- contained, 500 new seats, 400

         10  elementary and 100 middle school.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So, we're

         12  going to get an additional 500 seats and last year

         13  you opened up 320?

         14                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay and, I

         16  was looking at the middle school data and I see

         17  there's really a large disparity from one region to

         18  the other.  I mean, the numbers range from 527 in

         19  Region Ten to 5,600 in Region Seven.  Not that I

         20  think that the number of seats in Region Seven is

         21  adequate, but are you going to address the

         22  communities that don't have their fair share of

         23  gifted and talented programs  --

         24                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  We are  --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --  With that
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          2  money?

          3                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  We are, but as

          4  I've said to you, different communities have

          5  different wants and needs.  I think it's very

          6  important to understand that.

          7                 In District 26, where Chairman Weprin

          8  is from, those school districts there has not had a

          9  great demand for gifted and talented.  So, you have

         10  to look at the needs in the City.  I've often spoken

         11  about this.

         12                 District Two, which is on one side of

         13  Central Park, is very different from District Three,

         14  which is on the other side of Central Park and the

         15  demand for gifted and talented programs in District

         16  Two is entirely different.  So, what we do is work

         17  with the communities and we have been opening them

         18  after years where others haven't.  So, I would just

         19  caution you in saying we shouldn't look at this as

         20  some kind of statistical issue.  You have to look at

         21  it as a community issue.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  How are you

         23  measuring that demand?  I'm  --

         24                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  By talking to  --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --  You know,
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          2  anecdotally, I would say to you that I find that

          3  hard to believe, because I have not spoken or been

          4  in any community, and I represent an extraordinarily

          5  disparate district in terms of demographics, and I

          6  find from one end of my district to the other the

          7  demand for gifted and talented programs is there.

          8  So, how are you measuring that demand?

          9                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  By meeting with

         10  the Community Education Councils, by speaking to the

         11  President's Councils in the various communities that

         12  are affected.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So, for

         14  example, in District 26, the Community Education

         15  Council told you, no Chancellor, don't open any

         16  gifted and talented programs  --

         17                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  They work, they,

         18  several of them supported school- based enhancement

         19  programs, which I know are different from the ones

         20  you're talking about, but they did. Sure, they work

         21  with their community.  I can tell because you, it

         22  comes to me in terms of when the Community

         23  Superintendents or the Regional Superintendents say,

         24  this community wants this.

         25                 I was just on the phone in Region
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          2  Five, where they're opening up several such

          3  programs.  But, I will tell you, from my experience,

          4  and I'm not challenging yours in your district, but

          5  I will tell you there are different demands in

          6  different communities at different levels.  I think

          7  we just need to reflect that as my try to

          8  intelligently deal with this issue. I also agree

          9  with you, we should continue to expand them.  In the

         10  past, they were often underrepresented in high needs

         11  communities and that's an area where we're growing

         12  them as well.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I think

         14  especially in high needs communities and,

         15  Chancellor, I don't, in any shape, way, matter or

         16  form, question the integrity of your belief, I just,

         17  given that 50 Council Members signed on to the

         18  legislation to expand gifted and talented programs,

         19  I can only suspect that each and every one of them

         20  is hearing the same thing that I do.

         21                 To get 50 of my colleagues to agree

         22  on anything is a difficult, you know, endeavor to

         23  imagine.  So, I'm just believing that gifted and

         24  talented programs are a want in every neighborhood

         25  of the City and I certainly hear from advocates
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          2  throughout New York, even though my constituency is

          3  limited on this issue.

          4                 I want to go to your numbers as well.

          5    You had testified previously that there were 239

          6  self- contained classes for gifted and talented

          7  programs.  In the summary page that you've given us

          8  here says 332.  Is there a reason, am I reading the

          9  summary page wrong or?

         10                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I don't believe

         11  you're reading the summary page wrong.  I think

         12  probably what they've done is broken out different

         13  categories so that they clarified it, but this

         14  summary page is accurate.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay.  So,

         16  there are 332 programs and they're about 55,000

         17  students in them.  Can you tell me how many students

         18  are there in our public school system?

         19                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  There are

         20  approximately 1.1 million, however, this doesn't

         21  include high schools.  So  --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  How many are

         23  non  --

         24                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Are there without

         25   --

                                                            36

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  --  High

          3  schools then?

          4                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Non- high schools,

          5  so take out about 350 from 1.1 million, so you're

          6  talking about 750,000.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So, we have

          8  about 55,000 gifted and talented seats for about,

          9  out of 750,000 students. So, I'm going to go back to

         10  a question that I asked you at the Preliminary

         11  Hearing that we didn't get an answer to in these

         12  papers, which is, can we have a determination  --

         13  I'm not capable, I'm not an educator, I'm not a

         14  professional educator, I don't pretend to be  --  of

         15  what the appropriate measure for when a student

         16  appropriately should be in a gifted and talented

         17  program, when they need to be challenged at a higher

         18  level from the beginning of the day till the time

         19  they finish their homework?  And, how many seats

         20  would that be and how long will it take us to get to

         21  that level?

         22                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I tried to explain

         23  last time, evidently unsuccessfully, that the

         24  question you're asking calls for an arbitrary

         25  answer.  It depends  --  when you say, how many kids
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          2  need to be challenged to a higher level, with all

          3  due respect sir, I would say virtually all of our

          4  kids need to be challenged to a higher level.

          5                 I've talked to colleagues in other

          6  cities.  Some colleagues say the top two percent are

          7  gifted and talented, by their definition.  Some say

          8  the top five percent are gifted and talented by

          9  their definition.  I suspect if we did a survey and

         10  I'd be happy to try to find this out for you, New

         11  York City has more gifted and talented seats, we're,

         12  by the numbers I just gave you, 55,000 over 750,000

         13  is somewhere around four percent or whatever.  We

         14  have probably a higher number than most urban areas.

         15                 But, in the end, there is, it is not

         16  one where you can say the first three percent are

         17  gifted and talented, but the next kid whose 3.01

         18  percent is not.  I think it's very important to take

         19  that into account and also take into account there

         20  are some families in some schools, and I will show

         21  you schools like that, that actually affirmatively

         22  don't think you ought to divide this school in that

         23  way.  I have schools like that and if you have any

         24  doubt, I'd be happy to walk you to them  There's one

         25  on the West Side I have in mind right now.  There
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          2  are many others. So, the answer to your question is

          3   --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I don't think

          5  you really want to bring up the West Side of

          6  Manhattan in gifted and talented programs  --

          7                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I'd be happy to

          8  show you  --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I don't know

         10  if you want to do that.

         11                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I'd be happy to

         12  show you the school, but I will also tell you and we

         13  can keep going over this point, but I will just tell

         14  you, there is no decision that says the first three

         15  percent and then the question, how you measure them,

         16  what tests, what measures you use.  The top three

         17  percent --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Mr.

         19  Chancellor,  I kind of got the sign from the

         20  Chairman, so I'm just going to summarize by saying

         21  this, I do understand your answer.  I just don't

         22  accept it.

         23                 I think we need to have some policy

         24  determination made by the educators of the City of

         25  New York, where you tell us and maybe we can agree
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          2  or disagree, saying this is the appropriate level

          3  based upon our understanding of the children in our

          4  system of kids who belong in gifted and talented

          5  programs. Then we can find out how many seats they

          6  are, where they're from and aspire to the goal of

          7  making sure that every single one that should be is

          8  in one.  I don't think we're there at this point.

          9                 So, I would just continue to beat

         10  this until the horse is dead, that we need to have

         11  that policy determination made so that this becomes

         12  an issue that we can grapple with in a very material

         13  and direct way.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         15  We're going to ask my colleagues to, we're going to

         16  limit your questioning to five minutes.  So, that's

         17  your time frame, if you don't mind.  We have at

         18  least ten Members that want to ask questions and we

         19  have approximately an hour.  Council Member Weprin.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  We've been

         21  joined by Council Member Melinda Katz from Queens.

         22  Councilman John Liu.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank Chairmen

         24  Weprin and Jackson and I what to thank the

         25  Chancellor, the Deputy Chancellor and Madam Director
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          2  for joining us this morning.  I have three topics I

          3  would like to ask you questions about, so if you

          4  could keep your answers brief that would be  --

          5                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Fair enough.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  --   Very much

          7  appreciated. First and foremost is the status of our

          8  pre- kindergarten education.  We have gotten more

          9  money from the state in terms of funding pre-

         10  kindergarten and there is a sense that we need to go

         11  to full- day pre- kindergarten as much as possible.

         12  Where is the Department in terms of increasing pre-

         13  K all across the City for families and, in

         14  particular, increasing the pre- K services to full-

         15  day?

         16                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Yeah, well,

         17  actually this is one where the Speaker and our staff

         18  have been working very closely on.  We all agree

         19  that it should be full- day and we're working with

         20  the state to facilitate that and we also agree that

         21  we should expand these programs at the quickest rate

         22  we can, consistent with two things, making sure

         23  they're quality programs and making sure there's

         24  adequate space.  But, we will, basically, in the

         25  fall, open up significantly more new pre- K spaces
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          2  and I hope they're all full- day spaces.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Sure, but is the

          4  Department increasing the amount of budget from City

          5  sources going to pre- K? Because the state has

          6  expanded its share of, the state has expanded its

          7  funding for pre- K.  What about the City?  Is the

          8  City simply going to take that state money and

          9  supplant it with other money that the City was

         10  paying for?

         11                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  No, we're not

         12  supplanting it, no, we're adding it.  But  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  So, is the City

         14  actually, is the Department of Education adding more

         15  City money to pre- K funding?

         16                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  We're not adding

         17  more City money, we're adding the state money.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Okay, so the

         19  state is funding the increases, but when you talk

         20  about the Department working with the Speaker and

         21  the City Council to increase those pre- K services,

         22  the Department is not actually putting any

         23  additional money towards that, it's simply relying

         24  on the increased state funding?

         25                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Except we're,
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          2  we're putting, I'm reminded, some additional monies

          3  for collective bargaining costs, but basically we're

          4  not putting additional monies to City monies to

          5  expanded programs, that's correct.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Okay.  Is there

          7  any way we can reconsider that?

          8                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I think the way

          9   --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  There's still a,

         11  you know, I think there's still a small proportion

         12  of pre- K eligible kids who are actually going to

         13  pre- K and the numerous kids out there who do not go

         14  to pre- K, in many cases, because it's too expensive

         15  for the parents to send their kids to partial day

         16  pre- school, rather than sending them to full- day

         17  day care.

         18                 Those kids are starting kindergarten

         19  and first grade at a disadvantage.  So, what are we

         20  going to do to equalize that as soon as possible?

         21  I'm happy that the state is increasing its funding

         22  for pre- K, but what are we doing at the City level?

         23                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Well, in terms of

         24  additional funds from the City, again, that's a, as

         25  I've said many times before Mr. Liu, that's a
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          2  negotiation between this Council and the Mayor.  I

          3  think you know that pre- K is a high priority of

          4  ours.

          5                 I think, this year, because of the

          6  state money, I actually think that we have an

          7  ability to ramp it up and you've got to ramp it up

          8  sensibly.  I agree with you that there's a need, but

          9  simply meeting the need doesn't meet the educational

         10  function if it's not done properly.  But, you know,

         11  in any of these negotiations, whether it's on this

         12  or any other additional matter, I think that's for

         13  the City Council and the Mayor to negotiate and come

         14  to a conclusion.  I assure you we will implement the

         15  policies to the best of our abilities.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Mr. Chancellor,

         17  that's a very fair point in terms of the budget

         18  negotiations and I think that's certainly a priority

         19  that many of our colleagues do have.  As far as,

         20  another question on a different topic.  There is a

         21  potentially looming strike for summer school buses.

         22  Is there, what's the Department's position on that?

         23  Is it simply that this is a private  --

         24                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  We're opposed to

         25  it  --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  --  Negotiation

          3  between  --

          4                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  We're opposed to

          5  it.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  --  The drivers

          7  and the private school bus companies or is the

          8  Department fully engaged to make sure that we can

          9  avert any kind of a shutdown of the school bus

         10  system for summer students?

         11                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  We, obviously,

         12  like you, don't want to see a strike.  We are

         13  engaged, in a sense, that we're in touch with the

         14  relevant people.  In the end, this is a negotiation

         15  between a private bus company and the union and  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  This is a line

         17  that we have heard over and over again from this

         18  Administration.  I think it's important that at the

         19  end of the day, if there is a shutdown of these bus,

         20  these school bus services, that it's the kids who

         21  are going to be hurt and it's the Department of

         22  Education's responsibility to make sure that these

         23  kids get to school, get to the summer programs that

         24  they have been assigned to.

         25                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I agree with you
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          2  and we will have a contingency plan.  That's a

          3  different thing.  But, I, in any private

          4  negotiation, obviously, if, you know, both parties

          5  can look to the City to solve their financial

          6  problems, then I think that's a mistake.  On the

          7  other hand, we will, and I assure you, have

          8  contingency plans in place for our summer school

          9  students.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  And what would

         11  be your estimate of the cost of these contingency

         12  plans for the summer?

         13                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Probably in the

         14  end cost us less.  We'd have to rely much more on

         15  public transportation. But, you know, I will get you

         16  precise numbers, but we, probably cost us less than

         17  using the current system, because a lot of it would

         18  be through public buses and public subways.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I would urge the

         20  Department to take a fully proactive role in this

         21  and not, you know, again, I prefer not to hear the

         22  position that oh, this is a negotiation between a

         23  private company and the drivers.  The Department and

         24  the City has to be fully engaged in this and to the

         25  extent that I or the City Council can help with
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          2  this, I think that it's incumbent upon you to call

          3  upon us.

          4                 My last question for you has to do

          5  with the Department's policy and the fiscal

          6  implications of a shift in middle schools.  I

          7  believe that the Department is seriously considering

          8  a shift in middle schools from seventh to ninth

          9  grade to sixth to eighth grade, is that correct?

         10                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Generally

         11  speaking, that is our policy.  In some areas of the

         12  City it hasn't, they have a seven to nine structure

         13  and we are looking at moving those communities

         14  toward a six to eight structure, so high school can

         15  be a full four years.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Now, given that

         17  we also have a declining head count enrollment in

         18  the lower grades, does that still make sense to

         19  shift the elementary schools from kindergarten to

         20  sixth grade to kindergarten to fifth grade?

         21                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  It does for

         22  several reasons. First of all, because our

         23  experience shows us that a three- year middle school

         24  experience is important and a four- year high school

         25  experience is critical.  That's what drives us.  So,

                                                            47

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2  if you put those two things together, then you do

          3  fundamentally K to five or K to eight, which is fine

          4  with me, and then a high school, a four- year high

          5  school experience.  The three- year high school

          6  experience, we find, to be less effective.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  So, in other

          8  words, there's no fiscal consideration in that kind

          9  of shift?  It's purely  --

         10                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  It's purely  --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  --

         12  Instructional matter?

         13                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Yeah.  The

         14  dollars, in the end, I mean you may have to, you

         15  know, reconfigure some buildings, but the dollars

         16  are not what's driving that at all.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  It's not the

         18  dollars, it's the instructional, it's the fact that

         19  it's the best way to instruct students, as far as

         20  your experts go?

         21                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  So, when can we

         23  expect to see the shift to this instructional

         24  approach?

         25                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Over the next
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          2  several years. We've been working, I think you're

          3  probably aware, we've been having several meetings

          4  in District 25, District 26.  We'll be shifting

          5  those schools next year.  There will be some other

          6  schools that will probably shift the following year,

          7  but it, we are moving consistently in that

          8  direction.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Well, since you

         10  mentioned District 25 and 26, actually, I think the

         11  shift was supposed to have been taking place this

         12  year.

         13                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  That's correct,

         14  but there's  --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  What happened?

         16                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Well, what

         17  happened was we met with the community and the

         18  community felt like it was sprung on them, that

         19  there were settled expectations and that it would be

         20  preferable to move it by a year and we, working with

         21  the community, agreed to that and we'll do it next

         22  year.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  What happens if

         24  the community feels the same way next year?

         25                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Well, no, at that

                                                            49

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2  point, it's not a question about notice.  This was

          3  the thing about settled expectations, where kids had

          4  actually made some choices.  Now, everybody's on

          5  notice and the communities that we met with all

          6  understood.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  So, in this

          8  case, you felt that even though it was the best

          9  instructional approach to do so and you made the

         10  announcements in District 25 and 26 to go ahead with

         11  the change, you said that the community felt, voiced

         12  their opposition and, therefore, you reversed that

         13  policy?

         14                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  We deferred it by

         15  a year because specific children had made specific

         16  choices about schools and even though we think this

         17  is important, we understand that you have to make

         18  sure that you don't upset settled expectations. But,

         19  everybody understands it's going to happen next

         20  year.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  But, actually,

         22  by the time you had reverse the policy, many other

         23  children had already made their choices with regard

         24  to the new schools that they would go to.

         25                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  And those children
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          2  are  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  So, you kind of

          4   --

          5                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  --  Are going to

          6  them.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  --  Even though

          8  you may have satisfied the complaints from some

          9  students, you totally reversed what other students

         10  were planning to do already.

         11                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  No, that's not

         12  correct, because those students will be going to, in

         13  other words, a lot of those students were in the

         14  ninth grade, would have been going into the ninth

         15  grade, they're now going to go into high school.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Mr. Chancellor,

         17  that is, what I said is absolutely correct and I can

         18  give you numerous examples of that.  Mr. Chairman,

         19  in deference  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  --  To the time

         22  limits, I will  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  --  End my

         25  questions here. But, Mr. Chancellor, that is a big
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          2  problem, the way in which the Department of

          3  Education seeks to shift from seventh to ninth grade

          4  middle school to sixth to eighth grade middle

          5  school.  I don't disagree with the educational and

          6  the instructional merits of such a system, but I

          7  believe the Department of Education has to take

          8  greater care in making that shift, so that parents',

          9  students', families' and entire communities' needs

         10  can be taken care of.  Thank your Mr. Chairman.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Yes, well, you

         12   --

         13                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  We look forward to

         14  working with you on that Mr. Liu.  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  This discussion

         16  was not more about the expense budget, but more of

         17  an oversight, so I'm going to look towards possibly

         18  having an Oversight Hearing on this particular

         19  matter in the fall.

         20                 So, I'm going to ask my colleagues

         21  that we're dealing with the Executive Budget and not

         22  an Oversight Hearing. Please understand that on the

         23  particular program area.  So, I'm going to ask you

         24  to refine your questions to the financing, as far as

         25  Executive Budget Hearings.  Our next colleague is
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          2  Simcha Felder of Brooklyn.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  We've also been

          4  joined by a few more colleagues.  We have Council

          5  Member Oliver Koppell from the Bronx, Council Member

          6  Maria Baez from the Bronx and Council Member Andrew

          7  Lanza from Staten Island.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Thank you

          9  very much Mr. Chairman and, again, I want to thank

         10  you for allowing us to ask our questions before you

         11  ask any, which is very rare for a Chairman to do.

         12  I'm going to, it's 11:08, so I'm going to ask you to

         13  shut me up after five minutes, please.  And, if I'm

         14  not asking expense questions, just tell me to stop.

         15  I would appreciate that.

         16                 I have three areas of discussion.

         17  One, three questions and I'll ask them all together,

         18  so that it won't take as much time.

         19                 One has to do whether there has been

         20  any expense money allocated for vocational programs

         21  for public school students? Such as myself who went

         22  and didn't have any patience to sit, still do not,

         23  and, if there was a program that was available where

         24  I could learn how to be a plumber, I wouldn't be

         25  doing what I'm doing now.
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          2                 So, I think there are a lot of kids

          3  there that are very talented that don't have

          4  patience to read and write, you know, and could have

          5  a lot of success and self- esteem in other areas

          6  through the Department of Education.  That's

          7  question number one.

          8                 Question number two has to do with

          9  something you mentioned on page four about the money

         10  that you're spending for safety agents, school

         11  safety agents.  I'd like to know what, if any, or

         12  how much, if any, money has been spent, additional

         13  money specifically to address the issues of

         14  terrorism in the City?

         15                 I'm talking about children, because

         16  the children are the most vulnerable and we know,

         17  God forbid, there were attacks out of this country

         18  for a school and I think that, I'm not suggesting

         19  that the children are not safe, I'm suggesting that

         20  the children need to be extraordinarily safe because

         21  they can't fend for themselves.

         22                 Question number three is, in terms of

         23  parochial schools, how are you addressing, if any,

         24  the issues of safety?

         25                 We know that state mandates talk

                                                            54

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2  about text books, transportation, nurses, food.  I

          3  would assume that the Chancellor would agree that

          4  all children in the City deserve to be safe, just

          5  like they deserve to get food and transportation and

          6  nurses and food and text books, I'm sorry, even,

          7  we're not talking about putting safety officers in

          8  parochial schools, but basic items to make sure that

          9  all schools in the City have cameras and security

         10  items such as that, which aren't that expensive.

         11  I'm wondering if there's any allocation in the

         12  budget towards that.  Thank you.

         13                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Sure.  Let me

         14  answer the questions.  On the first one, I'm pleased

         15  to say yes, indeed, and I agree with you that the

         16  use of effective vocational training programs is

         17  critical and we are significantly ramping them up.

         18  We have a significant number of CTE programs, which

         19  are basically Career and Technical Education

         20  schools.

         21                 We started our Learning to Work

         22  initiative and I mentioned before that 2,000 kids

         23  are getting apprenticeships. I'm not talking about,

         24  you know, being taught something in a building.  I'm

         25  talking about being taught something on the job.
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          2                 We're opening up in the fall a high

          3  school in Queens that going to be for engineering

          4  and for construction and architecture.  All three.

          5  So, you'll have kids there working together.  Those

          6  kids who are in the construction piece, they're

          7  going to go right into the union.  So, I think

          8  you're absolutely right about this and I think our

          9  record on it and indeed some of our new monies are

         10  specifically focused on that.

         11                 With respect to school safety issues

         12  and the terrorism issues, obviously, every one of

         13  our schools has and we monitor this, is a school

         14  safety plan for what they would do, so that we

         15  actually try to bring order to the system.  We also,

         16  Ms. Grimm and her team, coordinate very closely with

         17  OEM and they are, obviously, the focal point of any

         18  concerns as well as the police department.

         19                 Lastly, on the safety issues, I don't

         20  know about cameras or other things.  I don't know if

         21  that's covered, but I'd be happy to get back to you

         22  on that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you

         25  Simcha.  You're always one that is pretty direct and
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          2  funny.  In fact, if you don't know, Simcha Felder

          3  was voted the most funniest Member of the City

          4  Council  --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Boo.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  Second to

          7  Jimmy Oddo, who is sitting behind me that's booing

          8  the number one person.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Chair, what

         10  they don't know is that I paid for the survey.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Oh, I see.  Our

         12  next person that's going to ask questions is our

         13  Speaker, Christine Quinn from Manhattan.

         14                 SPEAKER QUINN:  Thank you.  I don't

         15  actually really have any questions anymore because

         16  John Liu, which was great, covered the item, pre- K,

         17  I was going to ask about.  So, I wanted to more just

         18  thank John for that.

         19                 Then, also, to thank the Chancellor

         20  and his staff for working with us on the full- day

         21  pre- K initiative.  I mean, one of the additional

         22  benefits of putting this idea out there is I think

         23  it's also served us well, DOE well and ACS and DYCD

         24  and some of the other agencies well, because it's

         25  forcing all of us in government to make sure we come
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          2  up with a complete inventory of where all of the

          3  pre- K's are, you know, what their census is, what

          4  type of capacity we have.  So, I just wanted to make

          5  sure that folks knew that the staff was doing that

          6  as well.

          7                 I just wanted to kind of add to what

          8  Council Member Liu raised and the dialogue, you

          9  know, there isn't any more City money in the budget

         10  yet for making more full- day pre- K in the City and

         11  I just wanted to share.  I had breakfast yesterday

         12  as P.S. 33 and 27 of my colleagues, and I want to

         13  thank the Department for their help on this as well,

         14  had very nutritious and delicious breakfasts as

         15  schools throughout the City yesterday.

         16                 I ate breakfast with a young girl who

         17  had, they had taught a class on me the day before

         18  and she had been told that if the Mayor died, I was

         19  the Mayor.  I didn't disabuse her of that.  I

         20  thought it was too complicated to take her through

         21  all the Charter parts of that.  So, she asked what I

         22  would take care of if I was Mayor and I said, you

         23  know, hunger and then I talked to her about full-

         24  day pre- K and she told me  --  she was in fourth

         25  grade  --  that she had gone to full- day pre- K and

                                                            58

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2  she was sure that it was full- day pre- K that had

          3  made her smarter than everyone else in her class.

          4  So, I just wanted to share that with all of us as we

          5  move forward on this.  Thank you.

          6                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Sounds awfully

          7  smart to me, this young girl, I'll tell you.

          8                 SPEAKER QUINN:  I'd agree.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you

         10  Speaker Quinn. We've been  --  no, it wasn't out of

         11  order.  We've been joined by Jessica Lappin of

         12  Manhattan also.  Our next Council Member to question

         13  is Council Member Miguel Martinez of Manhattan.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you

         15  Mr. Chair.  Good morning Chancellor.

         16                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Good morning.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Chancellor,

         18  I just want to follow- up on the questioning, the

         19  line of questioning on having to do with universal

         20  pre- K and some discussions that you and I have had

         21  on the side with the issue of school district now

         22  being part of a region, being part of a larger

         23  community.

         24                 The discussions we had had to do with

         25  increasing choice between parents in terms of
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          2  selecting schools and also helping a particular

          3  district with the burden of the overpopulation in

          4  that particular district.

          5                 As you know, I represent the district

          6  that has a serious problem in terms of the

          7  population in the schools.  Also, I also represent

          8  that district that has the least universal pre- K in

          9  school buildings and throughout the entire district

         10  because of the lack of space.

         11                 Having said that, I think that in the

         12  discussion, in the planning process that you're

         13  going through and the fact that we have the

         14  resources, $25 million from the state as we go

         15  through our budget process, there are discussions of

         16  putting additional money for full- day universal

         17  pre- K.  I think that we should definitely consider

         18  to help districts, such as the one I represent, in

         19  terms of making available universal pre- K to these

         20  parents, allowing parents to have some of their kids

         21  go into other districts, neighboring districts where

         22  we have the space, if we're going to look at having

         23  more universal pre- K within the school buildings.

         24  I think that's definitely something that needs to be

         25  explored.
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          2                 In addition to that, I would ask is

          3  there any discussion in terms of how do we identify

          4  additional non- profit organizations that are doing

          5  universal pre- K in communities such as the one I

          6  represent that have the least universal pre- K

          7  programs in the community?

          8                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  The answer on the

          9  first is, as a general principle, I agree with you.

         10  I think we should, where you have overcapacity in

         11  some places that are maybe not in the same school

         12  district, but at least in the region or something,

         13  we should work to get that done.  I think, generally

         14  speaking, we've been pushing that agenda.  As you

         15  know, it's not always an easy agenda to push.

         16                 On the second, the answer is yes and

         17  we have been looking to identify CBO's and would

         18  welcome meeting with you or anyone on your staff who

         19  might have ideas about people in Washington Heights

         20  and other communities where there are CBO's that we,

         21  you know, could benefit from.  The key is to make

         22  sure they're highly qualified, that's the key.  But,

         23  if they are, you know, we have worked with many

         24  CBO's in the City who are providing all- day pre- K

         25  to our kids and doing a wonderful job and it
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          2  alleviates the space problem.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you.

          4  Also, on the issue of population, you bring me to

          5  the next question.  I get concerned, because of the

          6  district I represent, and we've had discussions,

          7  heated discussions on the whole issue of population

          8  and the issue of the need for more schools and so

          9  forth.  All the time I hear that, you know, the

         10  enrollment is going down.

         11                 Are we being careful, are we mapping

         12  out where enrollments are decreasing, where we're

         13  looking carefully to the same situation we just

         14  spoke about, that there's some particular school

         15  district communities where that's not the trend,

         16  where populations either maintaining that level or

         17  sometime increasing? Because I get concerned all the

         18  time I hear population's going down and I've been to

         19  my schools and I hear, you know, how teachers are

         20  going crazy with the amount of children they have in

         21  the school building.  So, we're being careful with

         22  that, right?

         23                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Yes, we are.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you

         25  Mr. Chair.

                                                            62

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you

          3  Council Member Martinez.  Our next Member to ask

          4  questions is Council Member Alan Gerson of

          5  Manhattan.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you

          7  Chair Jackson, Chair Weprin.  Mr. Chancellor, as a

          8  proud graduate from K through 12 of the City public

          9  school system, it's always a special privilege to be

         10  able to converse with the Chancellor.  In the

         11  interest of time, I'm going to take a lead from my

         12  colleague, Council Member Felder, and kind of

         13  present four questions in one, if you will or three

         14  and a half.

         15                 I need to start with the issue of

         16  class size.  The question is, to what extent is

         17  class size reduction a function of the expense or

         18  the Capital Budget?  In other words, if we were to

         19  take a significant part of the 120 additional

         20  million dollars we're adding to this year for a

         21  class size, would we have the space to make

         22  significant reductions currently?

         23                 Secondly, 1B, if you will, does this

         24  Department has class size reductions as a goal?  Do

         25  we have target goals to achieve significant class
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          2  size reductions over the upcoming year? I'm a little

          3  concerned, at times, that class size reduction seems

          4  to be an afterthought.  Some say, yeah, it's a good

          5  idea, but, you know, we'll get to it after

          6  everything else.  So, could you clarify it, as we

          7  plan our budgets, are we targeting class size

          8  reductions?

          9                 Then, my other questions, also

         10  related to the expense budget.  The provision of

         11  what's called "enrichment" subjects, what used to be

         12  called shops, music, art and even physical ed.  I'm

         13  getting an increasing concern for my district that

         14  as we move to smaller schools, which on one hand is

         15  a good thing, we are losing these subjects.

         16                 I have one school without a gym,

         17  other schools where any kind of shop is totally non-

         18  existent.  In the expense budget, are we planning to

         19  make sure that all of our kids, especially the

         20  middle schools, have opportunity for music, art and

         21  in what my day used to be called shop?  I'll stop

         22  there for now.

         23                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Sure.  On the

         24  first, on class size, it's a combination of both.

         25  In some schools, obviously, we just are, as Mr.
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          2  Martinez just pointed out, they're just space

          3  constrained and it's not a question of operating.

          4  In other schools, it is a question of operating.  As

          5  I pointed out, by and large, in most of our schools

          6  the K to three class size numbers are very close to

          7  20, 21.  That's going to almost be how they break in

          8  terms of whether it's 20 to one, 21 to one or 20 to

          9  one.

         10                 Overall, in terms of our initiatives,

         11  we have in our fiscal equity plan where you have

         12  real dollars and significant class size reduction

         13  costs real dollars.  I mean, reducing it from 20 and

         14  a half to 20 and a quarter is a good thing, but it's

         15  not a mega thing.  So, that's the big thing on that.

         16    The capital will help us do that as well.  We'll

         17  need to infuse more, additional, if you will, money

         18  for lower class size through the CFE.

         19                 There's also multiple ways of doing

         20  it and I'm glad you're giving me the opportunity to

         21  clarify this.  For some of our kids, for example,

         22  and this doesn't get the attention it needs, but for

         23  some of our kids, we pull them out.  So, if you have

         24  a class of 24, but if six kids are being pulled out

         25  for an intervention service, that class becomes 18
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          2  for a non- trivial part of the day.  Some of what

          3  we're trying to do is do differential targets and so

          4  forth.

          5                 Now, on the other issue of the

          6  various subjects, certainly in art and music,

          7  theater and design, I think we can show you we have

          8  ramped that up throughout the City, developed the

          9  blueprints.  Our new small high schools are doing

         10  that.

         11                 Gym is a real issue and it's an issue

         12  that concerns me and I'm glad it concerns you as

         13  well.  That's a physical plant issue, as well as a

         14  fact that in 1974, physical education in this City

         15  was decimated and while we are rebuilding it under

         16  Lori Benson's (phonetic) leadership and we will

         17  have, the Council's often asked us and I will get

         18  you, how much gym times.  I've got her working on

         19  all of that, how much physical education these kids

         20  are getting.  The answer, in a nutshell, is not

         21  enough.  We need to do more on that and we need to

         22  develop better spaces for the kids.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Mr. Chair, I

         24  think I have 90 seconds left if I'm watching my

         25  clock.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Go ahead.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I just wanted

          4  to say I look forward to following- up with you on

          5  that, especially it's an imperative as the son of a

          6  retired physical ed. Instructor in the public school

          7  system, I better follow- up.

          8                 The issue of bullying, which we have

          9  discussed and, as you know, the Department has, on

         10  the one hand declined to implement a law passed by

         11  this Council.  On the other hand, I do recognize

         12  you've implemented significant projects to reduce

         13  bullying, which is, of course, a nationwide problem.

         14                 This FY  '07 fiscal budget, do you

         15  have the resources to make sure we have a consistent

         16  anti- bullying effort in all schools?  Currently, by

         17  all reports, it's inconsistent. Some schools are

         18  doing better than most.  Will we have the resources

         19  to have a consistent effort which will include

         20  statistics keeping?  Because, if you don't track a

         21  problem, you're never going to be able to solve the

         22  problem.

         23                 Then again, in the interest of time

         24   --  this is my, I'm not going to have any more

         25  questions after this  -- unrelated, we have an
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          2  opportunity to impose, implement in a school a major

          3  space science resource center, which you and I have

          4  discussed.  It will be located in Region Nine, but

          5  it will serve the entire system through teacher

          6  training, after school programming.

          7                 If the Council allocates a limit to

          8  the funding, which I think is less than $500,000.00

          9  expense for this year, to get it started, will the

         10  Department allow it to be expended? Hopefully,

         11  that's an easy question.

         12                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I was going to

         13  say.  The answer on the second, I think, is we will

         14  gladly work with you to find an effective way to get

         15  that done.  It sounds like a good project.

         16  Obviously, we need to see the details.

         17                 On the first, I think we do have the

         18  resources and what I would propose is that Rose

         19  DePinto (phonetic) meet with your staff and explain

         20  to you the anti- bullying initiative and, both in

         21  terms of the data and in terms of the peer

         22  intervention services and other programs that we

         23  have.

         24                 I would say to you what I say to

         25  everybody is, in my business, you always need more.
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          2  It's not just on bullying, but on a whole range,

          3  lower class size and all the other things.  But, I

          4  think given the resources we have, our anti- bulling

          5  program is, I think, working well.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you

          7  very much Mr. Chancellor, Mr. Chair, and I'll

          8  schedule an appointment to present to you the

          9  details of the program.

         10                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I'm looking

         11  forward to it.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.  Our

         14  next Council Member is Jim Vacca of the Bronx.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Chancellor.

         16                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Jim, how are you?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Thank you for

         18  your hard work.  Chancellor, one or two things

         19  quickly.  I visited a school yesterday as part of

         20  the breakfast initiation.  What it did for me is

         21  that it verified something that I'd known for a

         22  while.  I'm concerned about summer school.

         23                 Basically, summer school is for

         24  children who are in level one, sometimes level two,

         25  who are being held, who are at risk of being held
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          2  back.  Then, we have breakfast and lunch. But,

          3  there's no recreation component.  So, many children

          4  don't come for breakfast, they don't come for lunch.

          5    Summer school turns out to be just for those who

          6  have to go.

          7                 Can we have resources, because I know

          8  you feel the same way, our schools should be the

          9  focal point of the neighborhood.  Really, what we're

         10  looking at, more and more, is year- round school.

         11  So, I'm asking you, can we develop a summer school

         12  program that would be a service to parents, but

         13  would involve a recreation as well as an academic

         14  component, so it would serve an entire neighborhood?

         15                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I think we have

         16  some of it, not enough of it.  In the end, I think

         17  it's a question of resources. I, you know, and it's

         18  just additional resources would enable us to expand

         19  the summer school program.  When we created Summer

         20  Success Academy, we tried to put in either a

         21  physical education component or an arts component

         22  for the students as well.  We did some of that, but

         23  as I say, with more resources, we could do more.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Chancellor, if

         25  I could mention to you, years ago I used to be on
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          2  School Board Eight.  We used the D.A.R.E. Program.

          3  We used the D.A.R.E. instructors to run after school

          4  programs.  They were then called Adapt instructors,

          5  with the old Adapt program that became D.A.R.E. Now,

          6  we have parent coordinators as resource people.

          7                 I would think that if we went into

          8  the schools, we could piece together some type of

          9  summer program that kept kids in school, in their

         10  communities and reduce idle time that many children

         11  have in July and August and also, therefore, help us

         12  with breakfast and lunch.  I'd like us to see if we

         13  can put something together.

         14                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Sure.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  All right.

         16  Chancellor, I'm also concerned about the, I'd like

         17  to know where in the budget is the money for the

         18  Empowerment Schools that, you have now 48

         19  Empowerment Schools, you're going to have 200  --

         20                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  --  And I know

         22  every school gets about $250,000.00, should they

         23  have a successful application.  Where in the budget

         24  is that?

         25                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  There's two
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          2  sources.  One is, a part of that $250,000.00 will be

          3  monies that are now, if you will, mandated monies

          4  that they'll have greater discretion over. So, in

          5  other words, that's not additional monies, that's

          6  just discretion.  The $150,000.00 will be from

          7  savings that we, which we have promised from savings

          8  in the central and regional offices because those

          9  schools will have far fewer mandated services.

         10                 Let me give you an example.  Right

         11  now, we provide a lot of professional development.

         12  These schools will be able to develop their own

         13  professional development and they get the additional

         14  resources.  So, our provision of services will go

         15  down and the money will be transferred and that's

         16  the way we're going, doing it.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Chancellor,

         18  you don't see another layer when we have the ten

         19  service centers?  I understand we're going to have

         20  ten service centers for the Empowerment zoned

         21  schools.  Are those separate from the regions, the

         22  ten service centers?

         23                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  There were, I

         24  don't know the service centers, the Empowerment

         25  Schools will have a very thinned down, if you will,
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          2  bureaucratic structure above them.  It be very

          3  different from the current regional and central

          4  structure.  So, the costing of that will be

          5  significantly less.  It won't be zero, but it will

          6  be less and that differential will be what flows to

          7  the schools.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  My last

          9  question, Chancellor, I wanted to bring up the issue

         10  of Title One.  I know we have a cut in Title One

         11  funding.  However, are we working in Washington or

         12  is there a way we could look at Title One, to see

         13  that we service students who are Title One eligible

         14  who are not in Title One schools?

         15                 I know in the Bronx the threshold for

         16  Title One money is 60 percent.  60 percent must be

         17  getting free or reduced price lunch.  But, if a

         18  school is 57 percent or 55 percent, they don't get

         19  one cent of Title One money.  What can we do to have

         20  money come down from Washington, so that all

         21  children who are Title One eligible, regardless of

         22  what school they attend, get Title One services that

         23  they are required, or that, you know, they qualify

         24  for?

         25                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  It would take a
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          2  change in the legislation and it would be complex.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  It's

          4  legislative?

          5                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Yeah.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  There's

          7  nothing, there used to be something called an

          8  Optional Assignment Program.  Does that still exist

          9  or is there any way to draw down money for these

         10  children who are in other schools?

         11                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Not that I am

         12  aware of.  But, if you have something that, I would

         13  be happy to look at.  But, my understanding is,

         14  you've got to meet the Title One threshold and if

         15  it's 60 percent, if you have 88 percent you get more

         16  money, but if, as you say, if it's below 60 percent,

         17  you don't get any money.  I think that raises

         18  concerns which you've appropriately identified.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Chancellor,

         20  back to summer school.  That's my key question, that

         21  if we could work together on that.

         22                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I look forward to

         23  it Jim, I really do.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Because we

         25  have schools with just 60, 70 children going there
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          2  because of mandated remediation.  The school is open

          3  with breakfast and lunch and there's nothing else

          4  going on in the building.  That's true in my

          5  district at all too many cases.

          6                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Look forward to

          7  it.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Thank you

          9  Chancellor.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you

         11  Council Member Vacca.  Our next colleague is Diana

         12  Reyna of Brooklyn.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you Mr.

         14  Chair.  Good morning Chancellor.  I just wanted to

         15  take a moment to ask you, in your last, I just

         16  browsed through your testimony and I was concerned

         17  with the last page, where you are foreseeing an

         18  unfortunate $22 million cut to our federal Title One

         19  dollars. Obviously, this is a direct effect from the

         20  federal government where in the poorest of

         21  communities, students who attend certain programs

         22  will be most affected.  Can you just elaborate on

         23  what those programs are?

         24                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Fundamentally, the

         25  Title One monies go for intervention and other
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          2  support services for students in high poverty

          3  schools.  This would be, some Title One monies go to

          4  pay for after school programs, some Title One monies

          5  go to pay for intervention services, some Title One

          6  monies go to pay for specialized programs that the

          7  school  --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Are you

          9  referring to like a TASC program or  --

         10                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Sometimes they're

         11  funded  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  --  Latchkey?

         13                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Sometimes they're

         14  funded, latchkey typically not, but sometimes an

         15  after school like TASC would be, yeah.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  What is the

         17  contingency plan that the Department of Education is

         18  counting on?

         19                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I think a couple

         20  of things. Ms. Grimm and her staff are looking at,

         21  and will be working with the schools on the

         22  specific, $22 million is a lot of money, but --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  It certainly

         24  is.

         25                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  --  In the course
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          2  of the Title One budget, my own prediction, I'm not

          3  trying to get ahead, it wouldn't mean cutting out an

          4  after school program, because the overall Title One

          5  money is probably about seven hundred or so million

          6  dollars.  So, while it's a reduction, it shouldn't

          7  be a dramatic reduction.

          8                 What I've asked Ms. Grimm and her

          9  team to do, is to look at the impact on individual

         10  schools.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So, we don't

         12  know yet what the  --

         13                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  What the impact

         14  will be.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  --  Impact is.

         16                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Could we

         18  possibly say that this is going to mean less

         19  services or less kids being serviced?

         20                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  It typically

         21  wouldn't affect the number of kids.  It might affect

         22  the number of programs.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  As far as the

         24  intervention programs are concerned, can you give me

         25  an example? Because I fall into the category of that
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          2  district that depends on Title One --

          3                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Sure.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  --  Dollars.

          5  So, I need to go back and tell parents, I'm sorry,

          6  you can't count on after school programs, not to

          7  mention that I'm one of those areas where OST

          8  funding is now less in the neighborhood.  Although

          9  there are perhaps other programs that children can

         10  travel to, the immediate area is not going to be

         11  concentrated with the after school programs that it

         12  was used to.  Therefore, parents are zigzagging

         13  through systems, don't know how to maneuver to get

         14  to the services that they're trying to receive for

         15  their children.

         16                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  What's the total

         17  Title number, you know how much?  Title One,

         18  overall, it's about $800 million. So, the cut will,

         19  while, you know, we're not happy with it, the cut

         20  will, should not be traumatic.  The kind of

         21  intervention service I have in mind is you might

         22  bring in, for example, an extra reading specialist.

         23  You might have two, you know, and you want to go to

         24  three or something like that.  That's the kind of

         25  thing where Title One monies will often be used.  A
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          2  lot of decisions are made by the school.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Are those the,

          4  because I'm familiar with Saturday classes and it's

          5  the tutoring component that a lot of my schools have

          6  been depending on to improve their reading, writing

          7  and math.

          8                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Those will

          9  continue.  That's -

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Those will

         11  continue.

         12                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  --  Those are City

         13  funds  --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Not dependent

         15  upon Title One  --

         16                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I can't say every

         17  Saturday program  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Right.

         19                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  --  That's why I

         20  asked Ms. Grimm to look at it, but most of the, what

         21  we put in place was something called a Saturday

         22  Academy program and that program, which involved

         23  tutoring and often times has programs for parents,

         24  that is funded, if not exclusively, principally by

         25  City funds.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Your

          3  Empowerment Schools, just moving forward, the

          4  $250,000.00 opportunity for principals who choose to

          5  participate and there's only going to be 200 schools

          6  available to apply for this program, correct?

          7                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Initially.

          8  Actually, we've had well over 300 that have applied.

          9    So, we may, we set a target at 200.  But, this is

         10  just the growth in the first year and, again,

         11  they're getting dollars that they would have

         12  otherwise gotten services, so it's a sort of trade

         13  off thing.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So, I'm trying

         15  to figure out, if I had a school in my district  --

         16  and it's very difficult to get this type of

         17  information from our Region Superintendents, if we

         18  can get in touch with them.  At the moment, I

         19  understand, you know, I wish there was a courtesy

         20  extended to a City Council Member to pick up the

         21  phone and just give us this information, but it's

         22  not happening as I would like it to and perhaps you

         23  can be helpful.

         24                 But, I'm trying to figure out if I

         25  have schools that are not the Empowerment Schools,
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          2  because a principal didn't know about it or forgot

          3  to or under so much pressure in trying to keep up

          4  with the new regulations, didn't have anything

          5  prepared to apply for this type of opportunity, but

          6  they're very much in that category where they're

          7  perhaps a failing school or perhaps that

          8  marginalized, you know they can do better, but

          9  they're not there yet and they could fall off the

         10  tracks.  How do we, how do you red flag those

         11  schools?

         12                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Well, we have many

         13  ways through our accountability systems, whether

         14  they're identified by the state, whether they're

         15  identified in terms of their performance indicators

         16  and so forth and that's the way we look at schools

         17  that are on the margins.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I guess it

         19  would be helpful to see in my district which ones

         20  are the Empowerment Schools. The reason why I'm

         21  asking this is because the small class size, the

         22  changing middle schools and high schools into

         23  smaller schools, in the beginning it's great, but

         24  then they're left on their own.  There's no

         25  additional funding being targeted towards these
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          2  schools because now they've, they're performing, but

          3  then they go right back into that under- performing

          4  category because now they have less resources to

          5  depend on.

          6                 So, now we're going back to a new

          7  name, a new school, a new number, a new address.

          8  You know, it's almost cosmetic, time and time again.

          9    There are specific schools that I'm referring to.

         10  How do we deal with the budget in relation to those

         11  specific schools that no longer are considered new

         12  schools, but truly are still in a very delicate

         13  stage where they're not, they can't be let go of

         14  yet?

         15                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  If you give us a

         16  list, I'll be happy to check into specific schools

         17  and look at both the budgetary considerations and

         18  whether or not they've applied to become Empowerment

         19  Schools.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So, the budget

         21  does not, right now, from your recollection, deal

         22  with that specific City wide?

         23                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  It would depend on

         24  the individual schools, but sure, different schools

         25  are in different positions and have different
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          2  budgets.  But, I'd have to look at, and we have a

          3  formula and we could say whether, where's the school

          4  and how it's being funded and whether it's getting

          5  more resources, fewer resources and why.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  My last

          7  question, I have an academy, a high school academy

          8  that apparently needs to be transferred from one

          9  facility to the next and I understand the School

         10  Construction Authority is going to be talking about

         11  the Five- Year Capital Plan, but this particular

         12  situation is not about a new school.  It's an

         13  existing school that just needs to be shifted from

         14  one place to another.

         15                 There's a lack of communication.  I

         16  think it's being considered in the Department of

         17  Education as a new school and they're not listening

         18  or there's not enough clarity in understanding that

         19  this is an existing school.  They need to just

         20  transfer their existing location to a new and better

         21  location because it's old school that, an old

         22  parochial school that shut down and now is available

         23  for use.

         24                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I'd suggest on

         25  that if you could speak directly to Ms. Grimm  --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I appreciate

          3  that.

          4                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  --  Tell her the

          5  school, we'll see what's  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Great, thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you and

         10  to my colleague, Diana, just follow- up with the

         11  Education staff to follow- up with the Chancellor on

         12  that, so that everyone is in the loop, okay?  Thank

         13  you.

         14                 We're going to turn to Council Member

         15  from Queens, Peter Vallone and then Council Member

         16  Domenic Recchia.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you

         18  Mr. Chair and thank you Mr. Recchia.  I only have a,

         19  I have two questions on the security cameras, but

         20  the Chair has informed me that that's capital and

         21  will be done later on.  So, I'm going to ask the

         22  Chair to follow- up on school security cameras for

         23  me later on today.

         24                 That being said, I'd just like to say

         25  that, you know, in a $15 billion budget, every one
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          2  of us up here can find areas that we disagree with

          3  with some portion of how that's being spent.  I

          4  would like to say that, overall, I personally

          5  believe you're doing an excellent job and making

          6  some great strides in improving our public schools.

          7                 I have a unique viewpoint on that,

          8  having two daughters in the public schools and they

          9  are thriving, they like their teachers, almost all

         10  their teachers.  The little one is on a tour of the

         11  Statue, well, the area around the Statue of Liberty

         12  today, since it's one of our monuments that doesn't

         13  exist here in New York and yet is closed due to

         14  security concerns.  I'd like that one to be

         15  explained.  We are going to have a hearing on that

         16  Monday, which everybody is entitled to join Chair

         17  Weprin and I on our Homeland Security problems.

         18                 Obviously, there are areas that we

         19  disagree regarding our schools and I look forward to

         20  next Wednesday's Hearing on cell phones in schools.

         21  But, overall, as I said, as a parent, I think you're

         22  making great strides here.  I'm going to defer my

         23  questions to be asked by the Chair later.  I thank

         24  Council Member Recchia for letting me jump in front

         25  of him because I need to get back to my district.
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          2  But, again, just thank you and your staff for all

          3  the work you're doing.

          4                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you

          7  Council Member Vallone.  Now we'll hear from Council

          8  Member Domenic Recchia of Brooklyn.

          9                 We'd like to acknowledge that Gale

         10  Brewer of Manhattan has joined us and capital

         11  questions, Five- Year Capital Plan, we're going to

         12  take those all at 12 o'clock.  So, my colleagues, if

         13  you have questions on the Five- Year Capital Plan or

         14  any capital project questions, be prepared to ask

         15  those at 12 o'clock.  Thank you.  Domenic Recchia of

         16  Brooklyn.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Yes, good

         18  morning Mr. Chancellor and I'm going to try to cut

         19  and be very direct in my questioning.  How much

         20  money did you put into the budget for advertising of

         21  gifted and talented programs, so that parents are

         22  aware of when applications are available, where to

         23  get the applications and how to get the

         24  applications?  How much money are we setting in the

         25  budget?
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          2                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I don't have a

          3  specific answer and I'll tell you why.  It's because

          4  the advertising for gifted and talented programs is

          5  done by the regions.  That's, again, because there

          6  are very different programs in different parts of

          7  the City.  So, the outreach, which goes beyond

          8  advertising and community meetings and stuff like

          9  that is done by different parts of the City process.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Do you know

         11  how much money each region is given for this?

         12                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  It's part of their

         13  regional budget and, you know, they're not given a

         14  specified amount.  I'm being shown one number here,

         15  maybe this will help.

         16                 What I'm being told is each region is

         17  given $157,789.00 allocation for gifted and talented

         18  programs.  That includes the position of the gifted

         19  and talented coordinator, the clerical support and

         20  the regional consultant.  So, how much of that money

         21  gets actually spent in advertising and outreach

         22  depends on the individual region.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  All right.

         24  The reason why I'm bringing this up is because we

         25  had a very severe problem in my district.  The
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          2  gifted, the Sigma programs for the elementary

          3  schools, okay? They're taking away three programs.

          4  The reason that they say they're taking it away is

          5  because that not enough people applied to have their

          6  children tested.

          7                 Number one, I asked to see the

          8  advertisements.  I never saw them.  Number two, the

          9  community never knew where, when or how to give out

         10  the applications.  I found out when the applications

         11  were given out and we had two days left.  What's

         12  even more devastating is that the three Sigma

         13  programs out of these programs, two of them are in

         14  Coney Island.  So, therefore, Coney Island is not

         15  going to have any more Sigma programs, gifted and

         16  talented programs.

         17                 You're going to tell me that there's

         18  no minority children who are gifted and talented?  I

         19  think this is devastating and the parents weren't

         20  notified.  The outreach was, I mean, I just need to

         21  know.  This is a very, very important issue because

         22  the minority children of Coney Island are being

         23  locked out of gifted programs.

         24                 You know what? They tell me, well,

         25  not a lot of people apply and those that did apply
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          2  weren't smart enough.  I disagree.  I think this is

          3  something that you have to look into now, because

          4  they want to close this out for next year.  I spoke

          5  to the superintendent this morning.  We disagreed on

          6  this issue. I asked her to call a meeting, but I'm

          7  bringing this to your attention because there was no

          8  outreach whatsoever.

          9                 Then she starts giving me all

         10  reasonings (sic) and then, this was the best, what I

         11  have a problem with is, I've been on the school

         12  board since the late 1980's.  We had thousands of

         13  children apply to take this test.  Now, today,

         14  nobody wants to take, they're trying to tell me that

         15  nobody wants to take this test.  I find it hard to

         16  believe.

         17                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I'd be happy to

         18  look into the specifics.  I'm not familiar with

         19  them.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Well, I

         21  think one of the problems is that there's no budget

         22  for advertising and reaching out to the community.

         23  So, I want to bring that, you know. There's demands

         24  differently in every district, so I think in every

         25  district we have to, and each area, we've got to
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          2  have funding for that.

          3                 You testified about the arts.  As you

          4  know, I'm Chairman of the Cultural Affairs

          5  Committee.  You talked about how you're revving up

          6  the arts programs and you came out with the

          7  blueprint.  How much money, once this blueprint is

          8  out, how much money did you put into the budget to

          9  implement this blueprint?

         10                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Well, it's at

         11  different levels, but we've certainly put in the

         12  Project Arts money and we actually raised it this

         13  year and we've also, different schools have, decide

         14  which particular cluster teachers and art teachers

         15  and music teachers they have.  We don't make, we

         16  don't try to micromanage every hiring decision.

         17  But, we have put in, basically, consistently, put in

         18  the money from Project Arts to support this effort.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  All right.

         20  Because, when I speak to people around and different

         21  coordinators and they, you know, the blueprint is

         22  not curriculum.  It's basically a guide. What I'm

         23  saying here is, when I talk to people and I say,

         24  well, how much money are you given to implement

         25  this?  They say, we're not given any money to
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          2  implement this.  While this blueprint is wonderful,

          3  it needs money to be implemented.

          4                 I get a lot of complaints that

          5  there's not enough arts programs, not enough music

          6  programs, not enough, you know, theater programs in

          7  our schools.  We're trying to increase this because

          8  these are the programs that the children wake up and

          9  say, I want to go to school because I'm involved in

         10  music, art, theater.  So, I just need to know, you

         11  know, when you say we're increasing it, how much did

         12  we increase it?  What was it last year and how much

         13  did we increase this year?

         14                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  You got Project

         15  Ats?  65? Evidently, it's about $65 million.  I can

         16  get you the exact increase number.  I don't have it

         17  available today.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  All right.

         19  I would like to see that number  --

         20                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Sure.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  --  And hope

         22  that we can work together in seeing that these

         23  numbers are increased.

         24                 One other thing I want to bring up

         25  about the gifted and talented programs is that the
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          2  advertising, in my region, we deal with Staten

          3  Island and Brooklyn and there was a big push this

          4  year to implement these gifted and talented programs

          5  for elementary schools in Staten Island and that's

          6  where all the resources went.  It's really unfair

          7  because my end of the region is getting left out.

          8  Again, I'm calling upon you to make District 20 and

          9  21 in Brooklyn its own region.  We cannot be hooked

         10  up with Staten Island.  It's not fair.  Right here's

         11  a perfect example.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.  Any

         15  final comments on that Chancellor?  No?

         16                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  No.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  Well,

         18  Domenic, as far as the amount of funding for the

         19  arts, please just coordinate that with the Education

         20  staff and jointly with Cultural Affairs, so we can

         21  put the question forward.  We're going to hear from

         22  Oliver Koppell, Helen Sears and Gale Brewer and then

         23  I will, as the Chair, ask the final questions.

         24  Okay.  Council  --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  Member

          3  Koppell.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Chancellor,

          5  good morning.

          6                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Good morning.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  You're aware

          8  of attempted initiative, ballot initiative, to focus

          9  resources on class size reduction, are you not?

         10                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Sure.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Do you

         12  support that initiative?

         13                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I do not.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Do you

         15  support the objectives of that initiative?

         16                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I support

         17  generally lowering class size in a coherent,

         18  intelligent way and ballot initiatives don't usually

         19  do that and I reference you to the California ballot

         20  initiative, which completely backfired on them.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, I'm

         22  not going to take the time now to find out.  I don't

         23  know how that happened and perhaps you, can someone,

         24  you don't need to personally call me, explain to me

         25  how it backfired  --
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          2                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Sure.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  --  Because

          4  I'm not familiar.  But, what concerns me is you

          5  indicate that though you don't support the

          6  initiative and I'm not sure that I believe that we

          7  ought to be doing that by initiative either.  But, I

          8  certainly support the objectives initiative.  You

          9  say you do and sometimes it might be a good idea if

         10  you don't support the initiative, but you support

         11  the objectives to kind of focus in on it in a

         12  coherent way.

         13                 I, following- up on Alan Gerson here,

         14  as you know, the State Comptroller released an audit

         15  showing that last year the City formed only 20

         16  additional classes with the $88 million specifically

         17  earmarked by the state for class size reduction.

         18                 According to Comptroller, 1,566 fewer

         19  new classes than the law allowed.  Just to follow-

         20  up on this before you answer, we in the Council also

         21  put in money, additional money for class size

         22  reduction, about $20 million and we understood that

         23  an additional 206 classes in K to three would be

         24  formed.  But, instead of adding classes, the audit

         25  says that the number of K to three classes actually
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          2  declined.

          3                 So, instead of adding 200 classes, it

          4  declined by 285, for a net difference in terms of

          5  expectation of 500 classes. I heard what you said in

          6  your statement about the fact that, or maybe it was

          7  after your statement, but you talked about many of

          8  the classes being 21 or thereabouts.  But, according

          9  to the State Comptroller's report, 26 percent of the

         10  K to three classes 25 or larger.

         11                 So, averages don't always tell the

         12  story, because the average may be, you know, there

         13  may be lower class size in some districts, but then

         14  in other districts, we're talking about over 25.

         15  While the difference, as you said, between 25 and

         16  three- quarters and 25 and a half, or whatever it

         17  was, I'm sorry, 21 and three- quarters and 21 and a

         18  half is not significant, the difference between 21

         19  and 25 is significant.

         20                 So, how do you answer these arguments

         21  made or allegations, because they really are kind of

         22  allegations, of the State Comptroller's report, that

         23  you're not really committed to class size reduction

         24  and not even complying with the state law?

         25                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Yeah.  Two things.
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          2    First of all, I think, in fairness, if you read in

          3  all of the Comptroller's report, he makes clear that

          4  we have made real progress.  He says a lot of

          5  positive things about what we're doing and he did

          6  raise some of the criticisms you do.

          7                 The principal criticism he raised is,

          8  frankly, we disagree with him, and I'll tell you

          9  why.  He calculates it based on a base that went

         10  back to 1999 and, in our view, that, you have to

         11  calculate it based on your actual enrollment.

         12                 The legislature changed that

         13  subsequently to agree with us.  Two years ago, the

         14  legislature, or a year and a half ago, they put

         15  through an amendment to agree with us.  But,

         16  nevertheless, the Comptroller had a different view

         17  of that.

         18                 On the issue of the $20 million or

         19  other things like that, I can tell you, we spent it

         20  on lower class size.  We, sometimes if a school

         21  doesn't have the physical space, they'll have to use

         22  a push- in teacher or something like that.  That's

         23  just a space constraint.

         24                 But, let me just tell you, from 1999

         25  when this started, City- wide, and I agree there is,

                                                            96

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2  sometimes there are differences in a different

          3  school, City- wide it went from 23.3 to last year

          4  21.3.  That's City- wide a reduction in two.

          5                 Now, I am sure sometimes you have 25

          6  because they don't have another classroom.  So,

          7  sometimes they'll have to use pull- outs or other

          8  things like that.  But, let me be clear with you,

          9  Mr. Koppell, I share the view that we should figure

         10  out and capacity, physical plant will affect that as

         11  well.

         12                 We should figure out a way to

         13  continue to reduce class size and particularly in

         14  the younger grades.  I completely share that view

         15  and I think we're doing a fair amount to do it. It

         16  takes money and, you know, Mr. Recchia just asked

         17  and I appreciate it, more money for the arts, more

         18  money for this, more money for that.  It takes

         19  money, but we are doing it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  What I would

         21  suggest, the objective, again, of the initiative, of

         22  the proposed budget initiative, and I think the

         23  objective, generally, frankly, is to achieve class

         24  size in New York City consistent with what is

         25  average state- wide, which I understand, I'm told,
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          2  is between 17 and 22, all the way through high

          3  school and that that's the objective.

          4                 Now, I think that that objective

          5  should be incorporated in a plan.  I'm not saying it

          6  can happen tomorrow. It can't.  Especially now, and

          7  I read your statement  --  I was a little late, I'm

          8  sorry, I was at a meeting in Brooklyn, that's why I

          9  was late, of disabled groups  --  but the point is

         10  that in your statement, you compliment us for

         11  working with you to get the capital monies from the

         12  state, which we now have.

         13                 I know we have a five- year plan, but

         14  as an overlay on that plan, there should be a

         15  specific objective of getting to the state- wide

         16  average or whatever number makes sense.  Then,

         17  perhaps, we could say we don't need the initiative

         18  because the government is committed to what the

         19  initiative is pointing to, we don't need the

         20  initiative.  We're going to be spending the money

         21  because we have a plan to achieve this objective,

         22  whether it's a three- year plan or a five- year plan

         23  or whatever it be.  It works. We've seen plans.

         24                 I initiated the five- year planning

         25  process at the MTA many years ago in the State
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          2  Legislature and it's worked.  We had an objective of

          3  putting the system in a situation of good repair and

          4  it, essentially, is there now.

          5                 So, what I'm asking you is we need a

          6  plan.  We need you to commit to a plan that says

          7  within x number of years, we're going to get to 22

          8  students a class, K to 12.  That's our plan, that's

          9  our commitment.  Sure, you never know in life what

         10  might happen, you know, heaven forbid we should have

         11  another 2001, but the point, you know and plans can

         12  have to change, but there should be a plan, so that

         13  you can stand with Bob Jackson and you can stand

         14  with Randi Weingarten and say we're all on the same

         15  page, we're going to get to that lower class size.

         16  Can we have such a plan?

         17                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Well, I think

         18  we've got such a plan in our fiscal equity thing.  I

         19  think you've got to have, you don't want to put out

         20  a plan and say, sure thing's can change, because you

         21  create expectations in this City and I think how you

         22  do it matters.

         23                 I would be happy to go over the

         24  California experience with you personally, because a

         25  lot of people try to do it by mandating it and it's
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          2  very hard.  The key to quality education is a

          3  combination of a high quality teacher and a class

          4  that's reasonably sized.

          5                 I was at a meeting the other day and

          6  a lot of parents said, they're less worried about

          7  whether it's 24 to 1 or 22 to 1 than they are about

          8  the quality of that one teacher.  So, you've got to

          9  make sure you're moving consistently across the

         10  system.

         11                 I will, again, there's lots of

         12  studies, including a report by John Merro (phonetic)

         13  of PBS, which I'll get you the documentary on, that

         14  in California the effect of this was, there's

         15  really, they didn't have enough new high quality

         16  teachers and they created a brain drain from certain

         17  schools to other schools to reduce it and, overall,

         18  it affected neighborhoods in very unintended ways.

         19  That's all I'm saying.

         20                 In our CFE plan, we have, and I'd be

         21  happy to walk through that with you, a coherent

         22  approach to lowering class size and to also devising

         23  other programs an interventions that will actually

         24  meet the needs of our kids and I think we can do

         25  that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  But, it's

          3  got to be specific.  It can't be, yes, we're going

          4  to lower class size, it has to be specific  --

          5                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  It's very

          6  specific.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  --  We want

          8  to get to 20 kids a class or 22 kids a class,

          9  whatever it is.  That's  --

         10                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  That's what we

         11  say.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  --  Got to

         13  be the objective.

         14                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  We say that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.  We

         16  have two more colleagues that want to ask some quick

         17  questions and I'll just wrap up with one or two

         18  questions.  Helen Sears of Queens.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chair.  Good morning Chancellor.

         21                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Good morning.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  I just have

         23  two questions, independent of each other.  The first

         24  one is, has the Administration asked the state to

         25  eliminate or alter the restrictions that they have
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          2  placed on charter schools for how much you can

          3  actually participate in your budget in supporting

          4  them?

          5                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  How much?  I'm not

          6  sure I understand your question, Ms. Sears.  How

          7  much we can  --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  How much of a

          9  budgetary support can you give to charter schools

         10  based on the restrictions that the state has placed

         11  on that?

         12                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  We actually have

         13  worked with the state and we're comfortable with the

         14  budgetary formula that we're currently using.  In

         15  other words, I think that's a fair, so that the

         16  money, basically, follows the child, principal,

         17  which I think is a fair way to do it.  We've worked

         18  with the state to assure that.  Some other school

         19  districts, apparently, have different challenges,

         20  but that's been something we've been pretty

         21  successful on.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Well, do they,

         23  does the state only support the tuition and then you

         24  have restrictions on what other support you give

         25  them?
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          2                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  No, the  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Because I'm

          4  not clear on that.  So you could clarify that.

          5                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  There is a formula

          6  that basically gives to the charter school a per

          7  pupil allotment that covers way beyond the  --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  The tuition?

          9                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  --  The tuition,

         10  yeah.  I think it's fundamentally a comparable.

         11  It's a little less than the average per pupil

         12  expenditure in the public schools.  But, on the

         13  other hand, the charter schools don't have, you

         14  know, they don't have some of the regional and all

         15  the cost overhead that gets baked into the public

         16  schools.  So, there's a differential, but I don't

         17  think it's dramatic in our City.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  And your

         19  comfortable with that?

         20                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I am.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay.  The

         22  second question is on the Empowerment Schools.  I

         23  read where you have ten dedicated support teams.

         24  Tell me, exactly what does that mean in terms of

         25  support, so that the principals can concentrate
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          2  solely on instruction?  So, I think that needs

          3  clarification because if they are reaching for

          4  autonomy, and I recognize how you're going to select

          5  them, the fact is I'm not so sure that you can strip

          6  them of total support in order to achieve and reach

          7  your guidelines.  So, what does that mean, ten

          8  dedicated centers to give them support?  Support of

          9  what kind?

         10                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Okay.  That's a

         11  great question. I'm sorry, somebody actually asked

         12  one before and I didn't pick up on it.  So, I'm glad

         13  you're giving me a second shot on it.

         14                 Fundamentally, what we're going to

         15  try to do is for a group of 20 schools, they will

         16  have a five person team, so they know exactly which

         17  people to get done the things they need.

         18                 So, one of these people will be

         19  someone who is a liaison on special services, one of

         20  them will be somebody who is a liaison on the

         21  financial issues, one on the instructional issues.

         22  So, instead of the principal having to navigate the

         23  system, this is dedicated, and I think that

         24  dedicated is used here in an on time sort of time,

         25  dedicated to this particular group, so that the
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          2  schools know exactly whom to call and also, I think

          3  dedicated in their commitment to these schools.

          4                 So, I think it's going to be a very

          5  effective model and at least from the principals

          6  I've been talking to, they feel comfortable with the

          7  model getting them the support they need, so that

          8  they have people navigate the very complex set of

          9  issues, for example, on special education, English

         10  language learners, those kinds of issues.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Will the ten

         12  teams that you have, will each school have their own

         13  team or are they going to have to share with several

         14  schools?

         15                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  They'll share in a

         16  cluster of schools.  They'll share, I mean it would

         17  be  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  And what limit

         19  have you placed on the sharing of these schools  --

         20                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  There will be  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  --  To give

         22  that support service?

         23                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  --  20 schools

         24  that self affiliate and they will have that support

         25  system.  So, each 20, that's where the arithmetic is
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          2  ten to 20, so you have 200 schools divided by the

          3  20.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  It will be

          5  interesting to see how that works.

          6                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  It's very

          7  exciting.  I'll  --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  I think it's a

          9  good-               CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  --  Be

         10  interested too.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  --  Idea,

         12  actually.

         13                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I'll be interested

         14  too.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  All right.

         16  Thank you very much.

         17                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Council Member

         19  Gale Brewer and then I'll wrap up with my questions.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

         21  very much and Chancellor, we look forward to you

         22  Wednesday at District Three. I'm sure you're looking

         23  forward to it also.

         24                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  It's always a

         25  treat.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Yes.  My

          3  question, two fold, one is the principals, I think,

          4  try very hard to run their schools well.  They don't

          5  have a lot of support.  I just didn't know, in terms

          6  of school secretaries and general support, I think,

          7  obviously the principals have to work within their

          8  galaxy, trying to juggle.

          9                 I'm just wondering, in terms of

         10  funding for that aspect, a lot of the parent

         11  coordinators, and I think I disagree with my

         12  colleagues, in a sense, I find a lot of the parent

         13  coordinators to be terrific and they really are

         14  trying.  It's a very hard job.  But, they do pick up

         15  sometimes, I think, where the school support isn't

         16  there.  I know that's not what they're supposed to

         17  do.  I just wanted to have you comment on the

         18  funding for the school support issue and how you

         19  think that should be allocated.

         20                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Again, my general

         21  view, Ms. Brewer, is the following:  We should try

         22  to give schools as much discretion in their budget,

         23  because I don't think we should set, you know, rules

         24  that get implemented, but rather the principal

         25  working with his team or her team, are to be
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          2  deciding.  So, if you want to have one fewer

          3  secretary and then have increased art teacher,

          4  that's something you've got to navigate and I don't

          5  think I should be navigating it for them.

          6                 So, as a general principal, I'm

          7  trying to drive as much money to the schools and

          8  then let the schools do the decision- making on

          9  which particular programs or personnel to increase.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Right.  The

         11  other question is on the ROCs.  I know that, I don't

         12  know how much is funding and just how much is the

         13  staffing.  It's very hard to get through on the

         14  telephone.  I'm just wondering, in terms of, and

         15  this is a City- wide issue I think, not just in

         16  Region Ten.  I'm just wondering if that's something

         17  that has come to your attention, because, obviously,

         18  it's a place that parents first make a connection in

         19  addition to their school.  There seems to be a real

         20  communication problem there.

         21                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  That specific

         22  aspect hasn't and in part I think it should be the

         23  parent support offices that the parents would be

         24  making the connections with and those, there's one

         25  in every region.  I'd be surprised if parents are
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          2  calling the ROCs for a lot of things, but if they

          3  are, I'd be happy to look into it.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, because

          5  I do think, just in general, it's hard to get

          6  through to the places where parents are trying to

          7  access.  All right, thank you very much.

          8                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         10  Chancellor, let me just wrap up with a couple of

         11  quick questions.  Concerning the $15 million that is

         12  going to be added to the budget for Multiple

         13  Pathways Program, do you intend to target special

         14  education students for participation in this

         15  program?  If so, how do you intend to do that?

         16                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Couple of things.

         17  First of all, in the Multiple Pathways Program,

         18  right now, Mr. Chairman, there are special education

         19  students that are participating.  The second thing

         20  that I think we should do to improve the process, is

         21  to be working with the CSEs to make sure that as

         22  part of their IEP, they get these services.

         23                 One of the things in particular,

         24  which I know you support and I continue to think it

         25  would be very important, we need to do many more
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          2  practical, skills- based learning opportunities for

          3  special ed. Kids to foster their economic

          4  independence.  That's something that Michelle Cahill

          5  and her team are working on as we speak.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I also think

          7  even beyond children with special needs, for all of

          8  our kids, they need more practical, hands- on stuff,

          9  along with the academic stuff.

         10                 I don't know if you heard,

         11  Chancellor, the series by Beth Vertake (phonetic) of

         12  WNYC, as far as the graduation rates of special

         13  education students.  What impact do you expect, at

         14  this program, the Multiple Pathways Program, to have

         15  on the graduation rates of children with special

         16  needs?

         17                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I think that it

         18  will improve them and that's been our experience and

         19  I think we need to continue to work on it.  I think

         20  the graduation rate of children with special needs

         21  needs to be significantly improved Mr. Chairman.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  As far as this

         23  special education mandated services need, the

         24  Executive Plan added $20 million for mandated

         25  special education services.  The components of this
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          2  budget increase include the rising cost of provider

          3  services and a shifting of student into special,

          4  into instructional models that are more expensive on

          5  a per capita basis; an extension of the IEP mandated

          6  services to the general education; and year- to-

          7  year increases in special education student

          8  enrollment.

          9                 It appears as though in the out

         10  years, that, can you please explain how the

         11  additional $20 million for special education

         12  services will be used and then what portion will be

         13  for high school?  We see that there's projected to

         14  be higher increases in that particular money in the

         15  out years, and why is that?

         16                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I think, again, I

         17  don't have all the details at my fingertips, but

         18  here's the problem. There's related services,

         19  whether it's speech therapy, OT, PT, which we need

         20  to get more of those services.  At the same time, as

         21  you point out, that sometimes the cost of those

         22  services is going up.  So, the extra $20 million is

         23  an effort to make sure more kids are getting more of

         24  their IEP services.  That expense will continue to

         25  grow, that will continue to grow.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Do you see that

          3  as a result of, I guess, more parents, especially

          4  early on, looking at their children and assessing

          5  their needs, do you see that in the younger grades,

          6  in the lower grades, are there an increase in

          7  children with IEPs compared to, let's say five years

          8  ago or ten years ago, and as a result of that, the

          9  services that are needed for them, in accordance

         10  with the law, and as a result of that increased in

         11  the funding for children with special needs?

         12                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I think the answer

         13  to your question is yes, in general.  One of the

         14  things that I think is unfortunate, but that's where

         15  we are under the law, is you have to be sometimes

         16  special ed. To get these services, so you have to

         17  have an IEP.  To some degree, that may lead parents

         18  to think, well then I need to have this child

         19  evaluated to get the services.

         20                 In my view, this is a long

         21  discussion, but in my view, we ought to get the

         22  services that the kid needs and it shouldn't be a

         23  discontinuity between the special ed. And non

         24  special ed. Kids.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Do you see
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          2  that, for example, that there are a lot of services

          3  that are needed for occupational therapy and other

          4  groups of therapies and do you have that within the

          5  system as far as staff with DOE to do it more so

          6  than us contracting out for those services or?

          7                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  You have to

          8  contract out for them.  There's a national shortage

          9  in OT, PT and other related services.  Every school

         10  district has it.  I can assure you, we have worked

         11  diligently on it.  Why, we actually, by changing

         12  rules so that we can compensate our own people to do

         13  more, even though that was no contemplated.  But,

         14  there still is a real shortage of OT and PT

         15  services, speech therapy as well.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  With respect to

         17  bussing, you know, we all heard on the news that the

         18  contract expires at the end of the year, but then

         19  the increases bussing costs, the spending on bussing

         20  is scheduled to increase by $79.6 million next year.

         21                 Is this figure taking into

         22  consideration the expiration of their contract or

         23  does it not?  Because, I know going back, I think it

         24  was last year or the year before, we dealt with a

         25  whole year of, with the bussing extension of their
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          2  contracts over, I think, a five year period.  How

          3  does this figure play into the situation that we're

          4  faced with by the end of June?

          5                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Our number is

          6  locked.  It's fixed.  Our contract with them, as,

          7  you're right, we spent a couple of years on this and

          8  we got it done.  Again, I want to congratulate Ms.

          9  Grimm and Members of this Council were very helpful

         10  in that.  The contract that's now expired is between

         11  the union and the bus companies, but it doesn't

         12  affect our pricing.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  It does not

         14  affect our pricing?

         15                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Not affect our

         16  pricing.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  But it could

         18  subsequently affect it in future contract

         19  negotiations, is that correct?  As far as  --  is

         20  there an amendment every year to that, our bussing

         21  contract?

         22                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  No.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  There is not.

         24  Okay. Finally, staff for the FMS conversion.  The

         25  Executive Plan added $195,000.00 in fiscal year 2007
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          2  and the out years to fund the salaries of three

          3  additional employees who work will involve aligning

          4  the Department's budgetary systems with the City's

          5  Financial Management System, the FMS.  Will the

          6  three person staff increase speed up your FMS

          7  conversion project and could you just speak on that?

          8                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  Sure.  The three

          9  people will obviously speed it up and, you know,

         10  five people might speed it up more, but three people

         11  will speed it up.

         12                 Here's the essential issue.  The

         13  Department of Education, when we were the Board of

         14  Education, were under different statutory and

         15  regulatory obligations and different accounting

         16  issues.

         17                 Working with the Comptroller's Office

         18  and working closely with the Comptroller's Office,

         19  we have been seeking to actually convert our

         20  systems, so that it's aligned with the City's

         21  system, even though, technically speaking, we are

         22  not legally a City agency, but we think, and

         23  certainly the Comptroller agrees with us, that we

         24  ought to go through the conversion.  That's the

         25  process.  It's not without challenges in how we do
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          2  it and that's why we dedicated more workforce to it.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  When do you

          4  see, based on the fact that you've added three new

          5  individuals in this fiscal year coming up, when do

          6  you see a time frame where your system of budgeting

          7  and financing will be aligned with the City?

          8                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN:  I'm advised that

          9  it will happen in November and next February.  It

         10  will be two phase shifts.  So, it should be done by

         11  then.  Ms. Grimm also advised me those three people

         12  were actually funded by OMB.  They didn't taken them

         13  out of our budget, because they, too, are concerned

         14  about getting a conversion.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well,

         16  Chancellor, and your staff, let me thank you for

         17  answering the questions as directly as you can.

         18  There are many follow- up questions that must be

         19  followed- up on.  So, the staff of the Education

         20  Committee and the Finance Committee will be

         21  following- up with you and your staff with those

         22  particular questions that were asked by my

         23  colleagues. So, with that.  This expense portion of

         24  the Education Committee is hereby adjourned.

         25                 Now, I'm going to turn it over to our
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          2  Chair of our Finance Committee, David Weprin, so we

          3  could move toward the other section.  Council Member

          4  Weprin.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

          6  We'll now deal with the capital budget.  We have

          7  representatives to talk about the capital from the

          8  School Construction Authority, Capital Budget as it

          9  relates to Education.  Do you have a prepared

         10  statement, Ms. Grimm?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Yes I do.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Yes, let me just

         13  introduce those Members that are here.  Council

         14  Member Helen Sears from Queens, Council Member Bill

         15  de Blasio from Brooklyn, Council Member Andrew Lanza

         16  from Staten Island, then Council Member Jim Oddo

         17  from Staten Island and Council Member Diana Reyna

         18  from Brooklyn and Queens, and, of course, I'm David

         19  Weprin, Chair of the Finance Committee, sitting next

         20  to Robert Jackson, Chairman of the Education

         21  Committee.  Proceed.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Before you

         23  proceed, let me just say, Kathleen, I thank you for

         24  being with us during the expense Hearing, even

         25  though I know it's your job, but you're always here
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          2  and I understand that this is your cup of tea.  We

          3  have a new President of SCA.  So, why don't we

          4  introduce those that are present with you on your

          5  team, so that all of the Members know who is

          6  present.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Thank you.

          8  All right. Good afternoon Chairman Jackson and

          9  Weprin and Members of the Committees on Education

         10  and Finance.  I am Kathleen Grimm, Deputy Chancellor

         11  of Finance and Administration for the New York City

         12  Department of Education.  I am pleased to introduce

         13  you to Sharon Greenberger, who was appointed

         14  President of the School Construction Authority on

         15  April 24th  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:

         17  Congratulations.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Yes and to

         19  the Department  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Congratulations.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Also with

         22  us today is Steve Lawitts, who many of you know.

         23  Steve was the Senior Vice President at the School

         24  Construction Authority.  Steve has taken a new

         25  position at the Department of Environmental
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          2  Protection, where he is the Executive Deputy

          3  Commissioner, but has very graciously helped, agreed

          4  to be with us during this transition period.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Congratulations

          6  is in order.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  I want to

          8  thank the Committee for this opportunity to testify

          9  on the Department's Capital Plan and our proposed

         10  Capital Budget for fiscal year '07.  April 24th,

         11  indeed, was a, a great day for the Department. Not

         12  only did Sharon Greenberger join us, but also on

         13  that day, the Governor, the Mayor, the Assembly

         14  Speaker, the Senate Majority Leader, the Speaker of

         15  the City Council and many other elected officials

         16  announced an historic agreement to fully fund the

         17  City's Education Capital Plan.

         18                 As you will all remember, since

         19  November  '03, when the Mayor first proposed the

         20  Capital Plan for fiscal years '05 through  '09, he

         21  has stressed that the state must provide half of the

         22  $13 billion funding.  The state's contribution is

         23  necessary to finance the construction of the new

         24  schools that will provide 66,000 additional seats,

         25  restructuring of struggling schools, improvements in
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          2  technology, arts and athletic facilities and

          3  hundreds of rehabilitation projects.

          4                 I want to echo what the Chancellor

          5  said earlier, to thank the City Council, including

          6  Speaker Quinn, Chairman Jackson, the Members of the

          7  Education Committee and the other City Council

          8  Members who stood united with us when we released

          9  the previous draft amendment in February.

         10                 Because there was not yet any state

         11  funding in February, that draft amendment deferred

         12  the completion of design and start of construction

         13  for new schools and many other projects that were

         14  scheduled to begin in fiscal year  '06.  The

         15  Council's support and commitment were critical to

         16  the City's ultimate success in obtaining the $6.5

         17  billion in state funding.

         18                 The May  '06 revision reflects now a

         19  fully funded Plan and restores a large number of the

         20  capacity, the restructuring and the CIP projects for

         21  commitment in the remaining weeks of fiscal year

         22   '06.

         23                 When the provision of state funding

         24  was announced, the Department reviewed the design

         25  status of the projects that had been linked to state

                                                            120

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2  funds and were previously deferred from '06 to  '07

          3  or later.

          4                 In restoring deferred projects to

          5  fiscal year '06, the Department sought to balance

          6  the number of projects that have complete designs

          7  with the need to avoid flooding the construction

          8  market and to obtain cost- effective bids.

          9                 The May amendment forecasted the

         10  Department will commit nearly $1.9 billion by the

         11  end of this fiscal year.  Of that total, $820

         12  million will be committed this year for new school

         13  construction.  We also plan to commit $400 million

         14  for some Children First initiatives, including

         15  campus restructuring, technology and facilities for

         16  physical fitness and arts.  The Plan also provides

         17  $745 million this year for rehabilitation of

         18  existing schools.

         19                 Combined with the $2.2 billion

         20  already committed in  '05, the Department will have

         21  committed a total of $4 billion in the first two

         22  years of this Capital Plan.  This is a record amount

         23  of capital funds committed in a two- year period

         24  since the School Construction Authority was created.

         25    There will be a total of $9 billion in City and
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          2  state capital funds to be committed over the

          3  remaining three years of the Plan.

          4                 The May amendment indicates that the

          5  Department plans to commit $2.9 billion in fiscal

          6  year  '07, $3 billion in '08 and $3.2 billion in

          7   '09.  Each successive fiscal year would represent a

          8  new record for committing capital funds.

          9                 These are very ambitious targets,

         10  which will require that our design teams work at

         11  maximum capacity and that we are able to put a

         12  steady flow of construction out to bid.  The newly

         13  announced stability of our funding sources will

         14  enable us to be able to schedule our design and

         15  procurement more evenly across each of the fiscal

         16  years.  We will need to carefully monitor the

         17  market, evaluating the bids we receive against our

         18  estimates to assure that the Capital Plan funding is

         19  spent as cost- effectively as possible.

         20                 In the thought that a picture is

         21  worth a thousand words, we have put together a few

         22  slides that we wanted to walk you through, just so

         23  that everyone would have sort of the numbers in

         24  front of them.

         25                 The first is what I alluded to, it is
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          2  the five years of the Capital Plan and the amount of

          3  money broken down into the City and the state spend.

          4    The  '05 figures are the actual,  '06 is what we

          5  estimate will happen.  We're pretty close, of

          6  course, to that.  And, the  '07,  '08 and  '09 are

          7  the projections that we have now in this Amendment,

          8  knowing that the state money is, has been secured.

          9                 Is that missing something?  Oh, I

         10  see.  Okay. This is just so, to make it a little

         11  easier for you to compare what this draft Amendment

         12  includes, the May  '06 draft, as compared to what is

         13  currently the adopted Capital Plan.  You can see

         14  that they're, in terms of the categories, there's

         15  very, very little shift.  One of the things we

         16  committed to do was to do an amendment every year,

         17  so that we could take into account where we did need

         18  to be shifting some of the funds.

         19                 This a comparison for you of, first

         20  of all, the five- year total, secondly, what has

         21  been spent or will be spent in the first two years

         22  and then, just sort of give you a sense of what that

         23  means.

         24                 Certainly, in terms of the total

         25  amount in the first two years, we have spent a
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          2  little over 30 percent of the Plan.  So, we have

          3  roughly 70 percent now to spend over the next three

          4  years.  We have spent 21 percent in our

          5  restructuring school space projects.  We have spent

          6  close to 30 percent on our new capacity projects and

          7  close to 43 percent on our existing assets.  What we

          8  will see, now, as we move through the next three

          9  years, now that we have the state money, we will be

         10  increasing the commitments to the new capacity

         11  projects and we'll see that rise.

         12                 On the next one, again, this is just

         13  to kind of give you, we hope, a better sense.  This

         14  is a break down of the projection for the next three

         15  years in the Plan, based on certain categories.

         16  Because, I know, when you pick up that document and

         17  try to look through it, it's kind of complicated.

         18  But, this should give you a better sense of the

         19  money that will be committed in each of these three

         20  years.

         21                 The next is just an update for you on

         22  where we are on our trying to identify sites for

         23  schools.  Since we've actually worked with many of

         24  you on this project, many of you are familiar in

         25  your own areas.  In some places, we have been very,
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          2  very successful.  We have a couple of districts

          3  where we have sited all of the seats projected in

          4  the Plan.

          5                 In the Bronx, we have been quite

          6  successful in our high school siting.  Almost all of

          7  the seats are sited in the Bronx.  We have other

          8  districts where it is still a great struggle and

          9  it's an area that we ask for your help and support,

         10  as, since you people know your neighborhoods even

         11  better than we do, but at least this gives you a

         12  sense of how we're doing. Basically, we have

         13  identified over half the seats City- wide and still

         14  have to identify 32,000 seats.

         15                 The next just gives you a sense of

         16  when we expect to see these seats to come on, the

         17  66,000.  We have roughly 6,500 that we have brought

         18  on line already and, obviously, we need a little

         19  lead time with the construction.  So, we will see

         20  the larger gains in   '08 and  '09 and in 2010.

         21  This is just a graph of those numbers.

         22                 There, I just want to be clear,

         23  because we, not, we have put on, we have brought

         24  seats on outside of the Plan since we began in this

         25  Administration and these are numbers that you may
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          2  have heard.  So, I wanted to line these up with the

          3  6,500 new seats that came on strictly under the

          4  Plan.  We have done nearly 15,000 seats of classroom

          5  conversions.  You'll remember that initiative, where

          6  we took administrative space, basically, and put it

          7  back into classroom use.

          8                 We have also done a lot of leases and

          9  the new schools and additions include the 6,500

         10  we've done under this Plan, but they also include

         11  the seats that came on as a result of the former

         12  Five- Year Plan.  So, those 43,000 seats plus the

         13  60,000 seats that we still have to build in this

         14  Plan mean that we will have created 100,000 seats

         15  when all of these seats are completed.

         16                 Okay.  I'm going to ask Sharon to

         17  cover the rest of this presentation.  Sharon.

         18                 MS. GREENBERGER:  Sure.  As Kathleen

         19  said earlier, a picture is worth more than anything

         20  else.  We wanted to give you a sense of the breathe

         21  and scale of some of the construction projects that

         22  we're working on.  So, we've included some projects

         23  across the City that reflect different capacity

         24  projects and CIP projects that are going on.  This

         25  is P.S. 42 in Queens, which was, just reached
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          2  substantial completion last month.  So, there are

          3  two pictures of this.  It's an exterior masonry

          4  project.

          5                 Next project is the Queens Vocational

          6  High School. This was an addition that opened last

          7  year and the next picture also shows you a different

          8  view of the addition.  We will begin an exterior

          9  mod. Project on this school on the existing building

         10  in  '07.

         11                 The next is the High School for

         12  Construction Trades, Engineering and Architecture in

         13  Queens.  I think this school really highlights some

         14  of the, some of our focus on high quality design

         15  that's cost- effective.

         16                 Some of the things that you can see

         17  in this school and some of the other projects

         18  include things like a focus on improved indoor air

         19  quality, so that we're building HVAC and heating

         20  systems that run throughout the entire building that

         21  are easier for maintenance and more cost- effective.

         22    You'll see improved roofing systems, improved

         23  window systems that are thermally insulated and

         24  you'll see a focus on wide corridors and an effort

         25  to bring in natural light to really make it a more
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          2  aesthetically pleasing environment for students.

          3  So, again, it's a little hard to see the picture on

          4  the left, but again the intent to bring in as much

          5  light as possible.  This school will open in the

          6  fall.  It's 992 seats.

          7                 Next is an IS school in Staten

          8  Island.  Again, it's an exterior mod. And climate

          9  control project.  This will be completed in the

         10  fall, in September.  Again, showing you some of the

         11  fireproofing that's going on in the school and some

         12  of the exterior modernization work.

         13                 This is the Bathgate Campus in the

         14  Bronx.  This is a leased facility from the Port

         15  Authority.  This will also open in the fall.  It's

         16  three high schools, each of 500 seats, that will be

         17  opening, that share some facilities like auditoriums

         18  and cafeterias.  So, again, we're trying to focus on

         19  creating spaces that are more cost- effective that

         20  can be shared.  You see some of the emphasis on

         21  color and light that we're bringing into the

         22  schools.

         23                 This is the Manhattan Center for

         24  Science and Math. This is a project that will be

         25  completed in  '08.  It's a pretty extensive project
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          2  that includes windows, exterior masonry, heating

          3  plant upgrade and toilets.  So, we're trying to get

          4  as much as possible done in one project.  Again,

          5  different pictures of that project.

          6                 This is PSIS 210 in Washington

          7  Heights.  This is a new capacity project that will

          8  open in  '07 that has been working on schedule, on

          9  budget and is a really terrific project.

         10                 P.S. 105 in Brooklyn.  An exterior

         11  masonry project that will finish next summer.

         12                 Finally, we wanted to share with you

         13  some pictures of the science labs that we're

         14  building that were very important through the

         15  restructuring component of the Plan.  This is the

         16  Lafayette High School in Brooklyn, which will open

         17  in the fall. There are two pictures of the science

         18  labs.

         19                 So, that gives you a sense of some of

         20  the things that we are working on and implementing.

         21  More to come.

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  We'd be

         23  happy to take any questions you have.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay.  We're

         25  very happy that we got to save money.  Obviously, as
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          2  I indicated earlier when the Chancellor was here, it

          3  was a concerted effort and, you know, we had brought

          4  this up before about the Mayor and the Council

          5  working together with the Chancellor and your office

          6  to lobby together and, obviously, it worked out this

          7  year and we're looking forward to it.

          8                 My question, though, for you is

          9  timing- wise.  You know, what's physically happening

         10  as far as the state getting that money over here

         11  logistically, especially in light of the fact that

         12  we only have another couple of weeks left in our

         13  current fiscal year  '06?  So, what is happening

         14  with any of that money for  '06 and how prepared are

         15  you to use that money to start construction?  Let's

         16  start with that and then I have a second part

         17  question.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Well, we're

         19  more than ready to start putting things out to bid

         20  and to do construction. We are working very closely

         21  with OMB, who have been wonderful, wonderfully

         22  supportive of us in this effort.  We've had very

         23  successful conversations with the Dormitory

         24  Authority and with the State Education Department.

         25  I am optimistic that the Dormitory Authority money,
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          2  the $1.8 billion, will be coming to us very shortly.

          3    The rest of the money, as you know, is available

          4  through the TFA, the Transition Financing Authority.

          5    So, that's in the control, really, of the City,

          6  and OMB will be able to make that happen.

          7                 What I think we're going to do, as a

          8  practical matter, is shift some more City money into

          9  this year to make sure that we can make our

         10  commitments and then next year we will be depending

         11  on the $1.8 billion from the Dormitory Authority and

         12  additional money from the TFA and I think we're on

         13  track for that to happen.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay.  That's

         15  good.  I'm happy to hear that.  Jeff, you happy to

         16  hear that?  Jeff's our resident cynic.  But, in any

         17  case, we look forward to that.  As you know, and the

         18  City Council  --

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  If I could

         20  just add, people were cynical that we were, about

         21  getting this money, so.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  That's true.  As

         23  you know, the City Council took a position against

         24  the deferral in February of some of these

         25  construction projects prior to us hearing from
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          2  Albany and receiving the money and we're happy that

          3  the end result was the way it was.  My question for

          4  you though is, now that they've committed the money,

          5  can the Department start construction on the 21 new

          6  schools that were deferred in the February agreement

          7  and what is the status of that as far as changing

          8  the February agreement?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  There is

         10  some shift. You'll recall there were 21 schools that

         11  were supposed, that were scheduled to start to go

         12  out to bid in this fiscal year.  Once we knew we had

         13  the money, we sat down and we reviewed all of them

         14  and those that were the most, the farthest along, we

         15  have put out to bid and we're sort of in the process

         16  of getting those bids back.

         17                 Others either weren't quite ready,

         18  had to have more design work.  Some, you know, not

         19  all the i's and the t's have been taken care of.

         20  So, they have been scheduled in next year, but I'm

         21  confident that as we move forward over the next few

         22  months, we will address most of those projects.

         23                 MS. GREENBERGER:  Can I just add that

         24  one schools, P.S. 245 in Queens has been awarded.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Is there a
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          2  formal action that has to be taken, you know, to

          3  change the February modification or is that already

          4  done?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  What is

          6  that?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  The February

          8  modification about deferring those schools, you

          9  know, which was obviously before the state money,

         10  has that officially been changed?  Can you explain?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Yes.  We

         12  have, we have revised the Plan to, into what we call

         13  the May  '06 amendment  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  --  And

         16  that's what we have distributed to all the Members.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  That has

         18  officially been voted on?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  By you?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  No, by the,

         21  whatever  --

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Oh, the

         23  panel?  The panel doesn't have to, the way the

         24  process works, is that the panel has to approve the

         25  Plan that is sent to you and to the Mayor.  Then,
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          2  that Plan is subject to negotiation between you and

          3  the Mayor, basically.  You come to an agreement,

          4  hopefully, and pass it and he approves it.  It never

          5  goes back to the panel.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  So, the panel,

          7  in other words, didn't have to have that vote as far

          8  as deferring that Plan?  I mean, that was  --

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  No, they

         10  had to have that vote because we couldn't push the

         11  Amendment out of the Department to you until the

         12  panel voted on it.  That's required by the Statute.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay.  So, right

         14  now, there's no intention of going back to the

         15  panel.  It's just a question of proceeding  --

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  There is no

         17  need to have a panel vote.  Of course, we are

         18  briefing the panel on all of the changes.  They're

         19  very much involved in terms of what the projects

         20  are.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay.  That's

         22  fine.  I'm going to turn it over to Co- Chair

         23  Jackson.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you Chair

         25  Weprin.  I just want to move to my colleagues and
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          2  then I'll come back to myself.  We're going to turn

          3  to the Minority Leader, Jim Oddo, from Staten Island

          4  and he represents parts of Brooklyn also.  Jim Oddo.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Thank you Mr.

          6  Chairman. Good afternoon ladies and gentlemen.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Good

          8  afternoon.

          9                 MS. GREENBERGER:  Good afternoon.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Congratulations

         11  Ms. Greenberger.  I have a process question, I

         12  guess, as well.  That is, is there flexibility built

         13  into this process so that after the Plan is put in

         14  place and a new opportunity sort of pops up that

         15  looks too good to pass up, there's a funding

         16  mechanism or a way to allocate money to acquire that

         17  particular facility or particular land?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  We have

         19  tried very hard to make the commitment that this

         20  Plan has to stay flexible, because who can stand in

         21  2003 and know what's going to happen out five years?

         22    That's why we do an annual amendment.  We will be

         23  issuing another amendment next November.  We'll be

         24  sending it to the CECs.  We'll be looking for

         25  comment.  It will go to the panel.  It will come
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          2  back here.  So, we are trying to keep this a living,

          3  breathing document.  It's  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Okay.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  --  Really

          6   --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Okay.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  --

          9  Necessary, I think.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  So, with that

         11  being said, let's do a hypothetical.  Let's say that

         12  there is a site.  Let's pick one of the five

         13  boroughs, Staten Island, and this particular site

         14  used to be a hospital, used to be, let's call it

         15  Doctor's Hospital and there were two Council

         16  Members, let's say Lanza and Oddo, and they believe

         17  that this site, along with many parents and local

         18  folks, think this building that's now vacant would

         19  make for a wonderful IS school that you can

         20  incorporate with a local school, let's say P.S. 48

         21  and this opportunity is brought to the

         22  Administration to SCA.  There's a process where even

         23  though it's not within the current plan, it's just

         24  sort of has come on the radar screen that we can

         25  work together to find a funding stream for it?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  I'm advised

          3  that the SCA is conducting a feasibility study of

          4  that hypothetical site.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  I love hearing

          6  things like that.  Okay, great, thank you for that.

          7  Seriously, it is, it's such a win, win, win.  It's

          8  money for the Staten Island University Hospital that

          9  they can then turn around and allocate towards their

         10  emergency room, which is a high priority for the

         11  Mayor and Council Member Lanza and I, and it's right

         12  across the street from P.S. 48.  It would be truly a

         13  wonderful achievement and, at the same time, we take

         14  a piece of property off the market that could very

         15  easily be turned into townehouses.  So, we thank you

         16  for your cooperation on that.

         17                 The last question I have is, again, a

         18  more generic question and that's about the cost per

         19  square foot of the various projects that we've seen.

         20    I know the Mayor and leadership of SCA touted its

         21  success in bringing down these costs per square

         22  foot. Councilman Lanza and I kind of looked at each

         23  other and we're pleased that the folks at Lafayette

         24  have a brand new science lab, but I think the price

         25  tag was $5 million.  Did we see that correctly?
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          2                 So, I guess the more general question

          3  is, have we truly seen a reduction in the cost per

          4  square foot that we touted a couple of years back

          5  and relative to all the other construction that's

          6  happening across the City, has that impacted the

          7  cost that we see for our schools projects?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  There's a

          9  timing aspect to my response.  When we began this

         10  Capital Plan, when this Administration came in, the

         11  School Construction Authority was building, I think,

         12  at $434.00 a square foot, something like that. And,

         13  the Mayor said, you have to reduce that $325.00.  We

         14  were delighted because the first project we brought

         15  in came in at $315.00 a square foot.  So, yes,

         16  indeed, we accomplished what the task the Mayor set

         17  out.

         18                 The $325.00 is no longer extant in

         19  the Plan because we put that in the first year and

         20  then we added some inflation for each year.  The

         21  market, as you all know, has become very overheated

         22  in the City.  So, we will be looking up the bids

         23  that are coming in now very, very carefully.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  So, where are

         25  we, per square foot, would you say?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Well, we're

          3  still, $349.00, but that's current, that's in terms

          4  of what we have, I want to be clear about that, this

          5  is what we have already committed to.  We have huge

          6  numbers of bids that we have put out, once again,

          7  because we got the money so late, and we're going to

          8  be very careful, as we were last year, when we got

          9  the money late and put so much out in the market.

         10                 MS. GREENBERGER:  But that's a

         11  square, per square foot cost for new capacity  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Right.

         13                 MS. GREENBERGER:  --  For new schools

         14    --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Right.

         16                 MS. GREENBERGER:  --  It wouldn't be

         17  apply to the science lab, which is an existing

         18  building, because there are different conditions

         19  that exist that would alter the cost.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  So, the

         21  increase above the goal of $325.00, and

         22  understanding $325.00 was a few years ago and  --

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Right.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  --   The market

         25  has changed, but the increase per square foot is,
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          2  would you say solely a result of the overheated

          3  market?  Are you confident that you've streamlined

          4  your process as, and made it as efficient as

          5  possible or?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  I'm

          7  confident that we have taken all the steps we need

          8  to take.  I am also confident we have to continue to

          9  be vigilant and take more steps, watch the market,

         10  be smart about what we're doing.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Okay.  Thank

         12  you and, again, thank you for your cooperation with

         13  respect to the old Doctor's Hospital site.  Thank

         14  you Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you

         16  Council Member Oddo.  Next will be Helen Sears from

         17  the great borough of Queens. Also, let me just say,

         18  I think I failed to introduce my colleagues that

         19  were present.  Let me go to my extreme left, Leroy

         20  Comrie from Queens, Gale Brewer of Manhattan,

         21  Annabel Palma of the Bronx.  Up in the front to my

         22  left, Simcha Felder of Brooklyn, Bill de Blasio of

         23  Brooklyn, Helen Sears directly in front of me,

         24  Oliver Koppell to my right and behind me, Jimmy Oddo

         25  the Minority Leader and Andrew Lanza of Staten
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          2  Island and Diana Reyna from the great borough of

          3  Brooklyn.  So, with that, Helen Sears.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you Mr.

          5  Chair.  Good afternoon.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Good

          7  afternoon.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  You have asked

          9  that we help look for sites and in some districts

         10  that's extremely difficult to find them  --

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  --  As it has

         13  been for you. So, my question is, in those areas

         14  where those seats are really needed, particularly in

         15  a high school, is the Administration prepared to

         16  either use eminent domain or to place a moratorium

         17  on those schools that are double, triple and

         18  quadruple in what their capacity now is?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  It  --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  I know that's

         21  a hard question  --

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  It has to

         23  be  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  --  And if you

         25  can't  --
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  It's a fair

          3  question. As to the eminent domain, yes, we are

          4  prepared to use that if we need to and, in fact,

          5  have, I think, just recently done so, because we

          6  needed to do.

          7                 On the second, the high school

          8  admissions process is a process that we have been

          9  watching very closely.  The trouble is, as the

         10  Chancellor alluded to earlier, this year, for

         11  example, is our peak year of high school

         12  enrollments.  So, we know we're going to remain

         13  overcrowded.  As he said, he thinks, as we go

         14  forward, there will be more relief in our

         15  overcrowded high schools, but they still will have

         16  too many children in them. They will still be

         17  overcrowded.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  If it's

         19  difficult to find sites for high schools, I don't

         20  know how that relief happens unless there's leasing

         21  of space and for a high school, that's pretty

         22  difficult to do.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Well,

         24  actually, we have been very successful with leasing

         25  space  --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Oh, good.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  It's, I

          4  think, a big contributor to why we have been able to

          5  site almost all the high school seats we need in the

          6  Bronx, for example.  So, we need to be alert to

          7  leasing possibilities.  We also are looking at is it

          8  possible, for example, in existing spaces that we

          9  own to build additions.  You know, we hadn't looked

         10  at that before.  I don't know if that's going to

         11  help us, but we need to look at every single

         12  possibility.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay.  That's

         14  good.  The second question is, for the new

         15  construction and it may have and it does have

         16  additional costs, but not very much, is that, are

         17  you looking at having green spaces on the roofs?

         18                 Now the green spaces can take large,

         19  small, small part of the roof, but we have become so

         20  environmentally concerned in the City, the

         21  Administration has and the Council has, and

         22  certainly Kaufman Studios (phonetic) has done it,

         23  Silver Cup Studios is doing it in Queens, Chicago

         24  has had their City Hall do it.  We, every day on the

         25  Health Committee, we're getting statistics at the
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          2  rise of asthma, all these pulmonary problems and

          3  those green roofs have turned out to be a huge asset

          4  to health.  But, they need to be done in new

          5  construction.  So, if you haven't, I'm really asking

          6  that you do and that I think if there are some

          7  additional costs and there will be, they won't be

          8  very much, we should look at that.

          9                 MS. GREENBERGER:  We're currently

         10  looking at the, at green design standards.  I know

         11  that Local Law 86 is very important to the Council

         12  and we are taking a very aggressive approach to

         13  looking at our design standards, as I think is

         14  probably mentioned, been mentioned here before.

         15                 The SCA in 2002 and 2003 did an

         16  overhaul of its existing design standards.  We are

         17  now looking at overlaying new green design standards

         18  to those standards.  We will be working on those

         19  through the end of the year, so that all projects

         20  designed in 2007 will incorporate these new green

         21  design standards.

         22                 As part of that, the SCAA&E team is

         23  working with the Mayor's Office of Environmental

         24  Coordination, the Law Department and the Mayor's

         25  Office in determining what makes the most sense for
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          2  incorporating green design standards into school

          3  construction, which is slightly different than those

          4  buildings outlined in Local Law 87.

          5                 I know that they're looking at all

          6  the elements associated with Local Law 87 or working

          7  on what makes sense from a programmatic point of

          8  view, from a cost point of view and from a

          9  maintenance point of view as well.  So, I believe

         10  that they're looking at this right now.  We will

         11  have, as I said, new green design standards in place

         12  by the end of the year.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay.  So, the

         14  new schools, those plans, were not in what we saw

         15  here.  So, you'll be doing that with  --

         16                 MS. GREENBERGER:  That's correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay.  The

         18  very last question is that in some of the sites

         19  where elementary schools have been and they've been

         20  in and have not been able to have gymnasiums and

         21  they've had some little play areas on roof.  The

         22  problem is that they're not enclosed, because the

         23  schools were not designed to have that enclosure on

         24  the roof.

         25                 Once again, we come back to what we
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          2  hear about health and obesity and we have some

          3  schools that don't have gymnasiums.  That seems like

          4  we have one agency really kind of working against

          5  what we all are concerned about.  So, what I'm

          6  really asking is that when you have your seats and

          7  their additional, whatever school that may be, I

          8  think, because there are schools without gymnasiums

          9  and I don't mean large ones, just, you know  --

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  --  Physical

         12  areas  --

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  --  They need

         15  to look that if the rooftop is going to be used, it

         16  should be enclosed and that has to do with the

         17  construction of new buildings.  It cannot be done

         18  once a building is constructed.  So, that means it

         19  has to be in the original thinking and in the

         20  original plans.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Okay.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you and

         25   --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you Mr.

          3  Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  We're try

          5  to move along pretty quickly.  We have HRA coming in

          6  pretty soon.  So, Oliver Koppell, then Gale Brewer

          7  then Tish James.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Thank you

          9  very much.  A few diverse questions.  First of all,

         10  I was extremely disturbed, as I think Ms. Grimm

         11  knows, when I visited Walton (phonetic) High School

         12  some years ago in the winter time and noticed all

         13  the students walking around with all their books and

         14  their jackets, having no place to put those during

         15  the day.

         16                 I actually put some money in the

         17  budget for lockers at Walton High School, but that

         18  money hasn't been spent, for whatever reason I don't

         19  know, and I don't want to go into that in detail.

         20  We can go into that separately.  The issue I'm

         21  asking is a more general issue.  As you renovate

         22  schools and build new schools, are you making

         23  provision for kids to put their coats and books away

         24  during the day?

         25                 MS. GREENBERGER:  Yes we are.  The
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          2  pictures that we showed you of Bathgate and of

          3  Construction Trades in Queens, it's a design element

          4  that's been incorporated in all new plans.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I hope it's

          6  a design element in each project, because, and I'd

          7  like a report on that. I mean, if there are any

          8  schools that are being extensively rehabilitated or

          9  built and you're not providing a locker space for

         10  each student, I would like to know about it  --

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  All right.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  --  Because

         13  I will object to it, just as I objected, well too

         14  late, to building schools in my district years ago

         15  that didn't have gymnasiums or auditoriums, which

         16  was an attempt to do something to save money.  But,

         17  you can do too much to save money and those schools

         18  now are, for the next 50 years, inadequate, in my

         19  opinion, from base line and there's no plan to

         20  change that.  So, that's an important general issue.

         21                 Specifically in my district, I know

         22  you're spending a lot, going back to Walton High

         23  School for a moment.  I know you're spending about

         24  $20 million on Walton High School. But, when I

         25  visited there recently, they said, you know, can you
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          2  get us money to do the auditorium and the cafeteria.

          3                 I don't understand why, if you're

          4  spending $20 million there, Walton is being phased

          5  out as a school itself, but there are going to be, I

          6  guess, four small schools.  I think that's working

          7  out well and the work that you've done at Walton is

          8  very attractive.  I'm very pleased to see it.  But,

          9  there must --  it shouldn't be necessary for me, as

         10  a Councilman, to come up with extra money for the

         11  auditorium and the cafeteria.  That ought to be part

         12  of the project, it seems to me.

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  What

         14  happens is we just sometimes have to make, nobody is

         15  even suggesting that this $13 billion is enough to

         16  really solve all the problems.  Every school should

         17  have a gym, every school should have a cafeteria.

         18  They should be top quality.  We can't do it all.

         19                 So, we're in Walton.  We're doing

         20  what we can. It's not, I mean, I'm not that

         21  familiar, specifically, with the project, but based

         22  on what you're saying, it seems that the auditorium

         23  and the cafeteria aren't part of the scope, because

         24  that money we're spending some place else.  If we

         25  wanted to do it, and of course we would want to do
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          2  it, we'd have to take it away from another school.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Oliver?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Yes?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  If you don't

          6  mind, I'm going to rotate one question to each

          7  Member, so that each Member has an opportunity to

          8  ask questions and we can continue to rotate.  But,

          9  I'm going to move on, if you don't mind, Oliver.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Just let me

         11  say that you dropped P.S. 16 from my district, but

         12  as far as I know it's still there.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  Well, we

         14    --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  It's not in

         16  the book.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  We'll

         18  follow- up on that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  And we'll

         20  follow- up on that with Education staff.  They're

         21  taking notes also.  My colleagues, one question, so

         22  we can continue to rotate among our colleagues. Gale

         23  Brewer, Tish James, Simcha Felder, Bill de Blasio.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.

         25  Picking up on that a little bit.  When you have, you
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          2  mentioned the amount was $4 million, I guess, $4

          3  billion, wait a minute, in terms of the renovation

          4  of the schools.  But, when you have, as opposed to

          5  new schools, when you have a school such as Martin

          6  Luther King Junior High School, which has five

          7  schools in it, I want to know the process for making

          8  a decision as to how the money gets spent.  Is it

          9  the prime principal or is it a collaboration and how

         10  do you monitor the collaboration?

         11                 Then, as part of that, just picking

         12  up on that school or any other school, in the

         13  December Plan and the May Plan, where I guess

         14  there's renovation, there's a real reduction in the

         15  amount.  I'm just wondering how that decision was

         16  made? In other words, you made the decision with the

         17  principals, you made it on your own?  One school in

         18  particular went from $26/$27 million to $15 million

         19  between the two Plans.  This is not a new school.

         20  This is a school that is "in need of renovation."

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Okay.  On

         22  the specific school, I'd want to sit down with you

         23   --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Oliver, can

         25  you move your
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          2  head a little bit?  We can't see anybody.  Go ahead,

          3  thank you.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  In general,

          5  all of this work is done on a collaborative basis,

          6  working with all of the principals, with the

          7  Building Committee.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  And on a

         10  specific shift in funding, is that for a specific

         11  school or  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Yes  --

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  --  Is that

         14  the capital --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  --  It's a

         16  specific school, but I know that, I happen to know

         17  there wasn't that much collaboration.  I'm sure  --

         18  you know, particularly where you have these five

         19  schools in one school, and this is a huge cut, sort

         20  to speak, I know there was no money to start with,

         21  so it's funny money  --

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Some of,

         23  we, as I say, we can follow- up with you

         24  specifically.  What happened in, because we got the

         25  money late, we realized that we could not accomplish
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          2  everything by September.  So, the scope of some of

          3  the projects was cut back in terms of what can we

          4  get ready for September.  It doesn't mean that we

          5  might not go back and revisit the rest of the scope.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay and then

          7  next time, next round, I want to know how much a

          8  science lab cost in a renovated school.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, we'll

         10  just come to that on the next round.  Tish James.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Just one

         12  question and then a very long comment, if you don't

         13  mind, which does not require a response.  First, let

         14  me apologize for not being here earlier. There was a

         15  press conference in Brooklyn with regard to the high

         16  asthma rates that our children are suffering under

         17  and the fact that we have done absolutely nothing to

         18  address that.

         19                 So, I wanted to ask the Chancellor

         20  some questions with regard to what is happening in

         21  17.  I am requesting again, Ms. Grimm, not only Ms.

         22  Grimm, but to Erin, a meeting with the Chancellor.

         23  I had a conversation with him yesterday to find out

         24  what is happening in 17.  I look at this SURR list,

         25  there are four schools on the SURR list in 17.  I do
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          2  believe  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  District 17,

          4  right?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  District 17

          6   --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  I seriously

          9  question the wisdom of Gloria Buckery (phonetic) in

         10  17 and I want some answers.  Two African American

         11  male principals have been, have now been removed

         12  from my district and that I will not tolerate.

         13                 To Ms. Grimm, I'd like to meet with

         14  you to discuss capital needs in my district.  I see

         15  that P.S. 11 is not on the list.  It's not in the

         16  book and I would like to follow- up since I can't

         17  ask any questions with regard to my capital needs.

         18  But, I do want to ask with regard an initiative I

         19  believe the City Council put forward prior to my

         20  arrival, which was Cool Schools.

         21                 I've had a meeting with every

         22  principal in my district.  Everyone on their list

         23  has requested air conditioning for their school.  I

         24  see that air conditioning, unfortunately, is not

         25  reflected in the Capital Book.  Can you speak to
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          2  that issue?

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Yes.  Cool

          4  Schools, for those who might not know, was, I think,

          5  a City Council initiative --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Yes.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  --  Several

          8  years ago. What it did was to make sure there were a

          9  few classrooms in every school that had air

         10  conditioning.  I don't know if it's every school,

         11  but it was an attempt to make sure that every school

         12  had some place where you could go on a really hot

         13  day.  Obviously, it doesn't, doesn't do the whole

         14  school.

         15                 Until very recently, schools were not

         16  built with air conditioning in New York City.  The

         17  expense of putting in air conditioning is

         18  overwhelming and in terms of our other needs, it's

         19  just not a realistic spend of our dollars.

         20                 So, when we do summer school, for

         21  example, we try to pinpoint the schools.  We try to

         22  use the schools that do have air conditioning or

         23  that were Cool Schools, so we know, at least,

         24  there's some relief there.  But, to make the kinds,

         25  the kind of investment we'd have to make, when I
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          2  know a few weeks in September and a few weeks in

          3  June, it's not pleasant.  But, I mean, in terms of

          4  our other needs, it just doesn't  --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you.  I

          6   --

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  --  Make

          8  sense.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  --  Look

         10  forward to, again following- up our discussion on

         11  capital needs and also a discussion with the

         12  Chancellor along with myself, the congressman, the

         13  senator and the assemblyman with regards to P.S. 375

         14  and the removal of the second African American male

         15  principal in my district.  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you

         17  Council Member. Please advise staff, the Education

         18  staff of that also, okay? So we could stay in

         19  contact.  Simcha Felder and then Bill de Blasio and

         20  then Diana Reyna.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Good

         22  afternoon.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Good

         24  afternoon.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  I'll try to
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          2  keep the rules.  So, the issue is that there's not

          3  enough money.  We talked about $13 billion not being

          4  enough money to do whatever you want to do.  At this

          5  time, I think that you would agree, and if not,

          6  please say so, that there's certain neighborhoods in

          7  the City that have schools that are under capacity

          8  and certain neighborhoods in the City that obviously

          9  need more space.

         10                 So, for example, in my district, I

         11  know of three schools that are at about 50 percent

         12  capacity.  Again, there are other neighborhoods that

         13  need a lot more space.  First of all, I don't know

         14  if it will be of help to you, but I'm very

         15  interesting in helping the Department of Education

         16  find space in my district.

         17                 I think that my colleagues are good

         18  resources for helping you find spaces that not only

         19  will be good for the Department of Education, but

         20  will probably result in a lot less problems from the

         21  communities nearby.  So, if your staff, I

         22  congratulate the new President, but if your staff,

         23  I'm not going to volunteer for anybody else, but if

         24  your staff is interested in a good resource, I'm

         25  prepared to supply the pastrami and go out and I can
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          2  show you a lot of good spaces.

          3                 At the same time, I just want to make

          4  the suggestion I made last year, if there are three

          5  schools that are underutilized in a specific area,

          6  it doesn't make sense to me to bus children in from

          7  wherever they are, to stay on a bus, especially

          8  during cold and hot weather, for 45 minutes because

          9  there's a building somewhere else that's empty.

         10                 So, what is Felder's brilliant plan?

         11  You sell the property today contingent on the owner

         12  taking ownership five years from now.  They pay fair

         13  market value, whatever it's worth, which is a lot of

         14  money today, especially in an area that's very, very

         15  desirable for homes or shops.  You get the cash up

         16  front, not cash, you get it up front.  You, the

         17  property is still is yours for five years, so the

         18  kids are not on the street.

         19                 You have the opportunity to take the

         20  money, buy property somewhere else, do the building

         21  and solve all the problems.  So, I, first of all,

         22  you help the neighborhoods that need the space and

         23  you take space from places that aren't being

         24  utilized instead of putting programs in and

         25  shlepping people from other spaces.
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          2                 It sounds so simple that there must

          3  be something wrong, but so far I haven't figured it

          4  out.  So, can you just, like, just for a minute,

          5  explain why, what's wrong with this suggestion?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  It's an

          7  excellent suggestion.  We'll take a look at it,

          8  we'll come to talk to you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         11  Council Member Bill de Blasio of Brooklyn.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER de BLASIO:  Thank you

         13  Mr. Chairman. Since I'm going to be Co- Chairing the

         14  next Hearing, I appreciate your efforts at being

         15  expeditious, but I do want to make just a couple of

         16  real quick points and then a question.

         17                 First of all, thank you to everyone

         18  on this panel. I really do want to give you credit

         19  for the amount of communication that there's been

         20  over these last few years, let alone the huge

         21  victory we won in Albany and, you know, I think you

         22  really deserve credit for making things happen with

         23  the resources that you've had.  It is night and day

         24  compared to what we used to think of the School

         25  Construction Authority and worked on on the capital
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          2  side.  So, I think everyone at this panel deserves a

          3  lot of credit for that.

          4                 I always want to urge you to expand

          5  upon that communication.  I think it is always

          6  helpful.  I think Simcha Felder's point is right, we

          7  sometimes have ideas about space and options in our

          8  community.  It's always helpful to know when things

          9  are happening.  We can often be, you know, the

         10  tribunes who spread the word out there.

         11                 Also, we're regularly confronted with

         12  questions about what's happening and many an urban

         13  legend and myth exists and if we know the facts in

         14  advance, it often helps us to dispel the wrong kind

         15  of rumors.  So, I urge you on, think of that.

         16                 I really want to commend the Mayor

         17  and the Chancellor for the choice of Ms.

         18  Greenberger, who I think is going to do a great job,

         19  really an ideal choice and I want to thank her for

         20  the great work she has done in our community in

         21  terms of the Park Slope Armory, which really gets to

         22  the point that was raised earlier about trying to be

         23  creative to provide facilities we haven't been able

         24  to provide for kids, including physical education

         25  space and space for athletics.  That's a great
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          2  example of a really creative approach that's going

          3  to benefit a number of schools in Brooklyn, so I

          4  thank you very much for that.

          5                 I do think one of the crying needs

          6  going forward, of course, is gym space, which fits

          7  with the Administration's concerns about obesity.  I

          8  don't think, honestly, we've heard a really clear

          9  plan on that.  I know the physical limitations are

         10  intense, so I'm not asking a sort of put you on the

         11  spot question today.  I'm saying I do think there is

         12  a broader plan around adding and changing schools,

         13  so that we can start to actually do something about

         14  phys. Ed.  We need to hear it because we haven't

         15  over these last four years, in my opinion.

         16                 The question I have revolves around

         17  my area.  I assume and I believe that there's a real

         18  priority on the Southwest Brooklyn new high school,

         19  which, of course, is a long standing need, so unless

         20  I'm wrong about that, I'm just going to say that as

         21  a statement.

         22                 The thing I haven't heard as much on

         23  is the need for middle schools or middle/high school

         24  combinations in Region Eight.  I know there are some

         25  new ideas out there.  Region Eight has had explosion
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          2  in the number of parents that want to send their

          3  kids to public middle school.  Of course, an

          4  explosion in the number of people coming in with

          5  kids and with growing families.

          6                 I've suggested using space in the new

          7  Brooklyn Bridge Park, including space in some of the

          8  buildings to be constructed, so you're not taking up

          9  park land, but looking at the fact that they're

         10  going to be building new buildings anyway, perhaps

         11  we could be creative.  I believe that was done with

         12  the Beekman (phonetic) project recently on the  --

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER de BLASIO:  --  On the

         15  Lower East Side.  But, I think that would be a great

         16  way to add capacity to Region Eight and also speak

         17  to some of the concerns about the park, to ensure

         18  it's really used by a wide cross- section of the

         19  community.

         20                 So, that's my question.  What is the

         21  plan in terms of addressing the growing middle

         22  schools needs in Region Eight and is the possibility

         23  of doing something with the emerging Brooklyn Bridge

         24  Park on the table as an option?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Well, as
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          2  you know, with us, everything's on the table.  I

          3  mean, until, if we get to a point where it doesn't

          4  work, then we have to walk away from it. But, we're

          5  perfectly happy to explore any kind of solution that

          6  gives us space for our schools.  So, absolutely.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER de BLASIO:  And

          8  broadly, more broadly on Region Eight, the

          9  situation?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  On Region

         11  Eight?  I don't know if we have any specific

         12  information.  Could we get back to the Committee and

         13  to you on that?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Great.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER de BLASIO:  Okay.

         16  Well, I'd appreciate feedback.  Just a close out

         17  point.  The park offers a tremendous opportunity.

         18  There's obviously a lot of other development

         19  happening, dare I say it, Atlantic Yards, and many

         20  other new possibilities to be creative about

         21  maximizing new building plus school buildings

         22  simultaneously.  It would be very helpful to me to

         23  get a sense of what the live options are and what

         24  the game place is for middle school capacity in

         25  Region Eight, again, so I can talk to the many
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          2  people who ask me every day.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Sure.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Good.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER de BLASIO:  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  And I encourage

          7  my colleagues concerning their particular districts,

          8  if they want to meet with SCA and DOE to discuss

          9  suggestions that you have, I would strongly suggest

         10  that you do that as quickly as possible. Diana Reyna

         11  and then Alan Gerson and John Liu and then Gale

         12  again.  Go.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you Mr.

         14  Chair.  I just wanted to provide you, Ms. Grimm,

         15  with the information that I had raised before when

         16  the Chancellor was here  --

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Sure.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  --  This is

         19  the letter that was issued to me recently to follow-

         20  up on the leasing proposed that perhaps there wasn't

         21  enough clarity in understanding that this is just a

         22  transfer from one building to the next building.

         23  It's not a new school and there's less than the

         24  summer to bring the new building up to date if, once

         25  the leasing is signed off on, to accommodate a high
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          2  school environment.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Okay.

          4  Well, if you'll provide that to staff, we'll get

          5  back to you and the Committee with what our plans

          6  are on it.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And who's the

          8  staff member?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Lorraine

         10  will take it.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  And, Diana,

         13  that's why I encourage every Member to sit down with

         14  them to go over the projects in their districts and

         15  give them suggestions, so that we can refine that,

         16  because, quite frankly, the Five- Year Capital

         17  Amendment, which was submitted to us last week, we

         18  have to come to agreement with the Mayor on that and

         19  that will be all done before we pass the budget, the

         20  next two to three weeks, okay?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Definitely and

         22  I understand that.  I just wanted to make sure that

         23  that information got to them, because  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I hear you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  --  I think
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          2  there's confusion  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  --  And that

          5  wasn't my question, it was to relay the information

          6  that I said I would  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I understand

          8   --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  --  Prior to.

         10  I just wanted to find out, as far as the, you had

         11  focused on your presentation, the Powerpoint, a lot

         12  of emphasis on the new capacity and the new seating,

         13  which I can appreciate and value. I'm just

         14  wondering, as part of your presentation, is there

         15  any updates on playgrounds? Because I know that

         16  there's a lot of funding that's going to go into

         17  creating new playgrounds that a handful of schools

         18  are going to be receiving.  Is there any updates

         19  concerning that for this upcoming year?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  The, there

         21  are no real updates, because, basically, what we

         22  have, all the projects that were in the Plan are

         23  still in the Plan.  So, whatever projects had been

         24  identified for playgrounds should be going forward.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So, let me
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          2  just ask the question this way.  Anything that says

          3  2007 construction start, should have plans, designs,

          4  schematics, whatever the case may be, to begin

          5  construction, ground breaking construction?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  It means

          7  that they, they go out to bid and we award a

          8  contract.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  As far as the

         10  bidding is concerned, is School Construction

         11  Authority working with MWBEs and now, more current,

         12  EBEs?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  We have an

         14  excellent program in that area, excellent program.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Fantastic and

         16  who's the staff member working on that particular

         17   --

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Michael  --

         19                 MS. GREENBERGER:  Michael Gardener

         20  (phonetic).

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Michael

         22  Gardner, thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  In fact, Diana

         24  Reyna, Michael Gardner met with Yvette Clarke and

         25  myself and a couple of other people in the Members
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          2  lounge to discuss their whole minority- and women-

          3  owned business program, at SCA.  Let me tell you,

          4  it's very impressive.  Maybe you need to sit down

          5  and talk with him because that's, they're on the

          6  money.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  We'll just

          8   --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Co- Chair of

         10  the Women's Caucus?  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I'd appreciate

         13  the invitation next time, so that way I can be

         14  informed.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  But I'd like

         17  to participate.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you.

         20                 MS. GREENBERGER:  I can tell you that

         21  during fiscal year 2006, our projections are that we

         22  will award a total of 20 percent of our contracts to

         23  MWBE firms.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  And then John

         25  Liu.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you Mr.

          3  Chair.  Good afternoon.  Ms. Greenberger, we've had

          4  occasion to work together in your previous two

          5  capacities and I look forward to continuing to

          6  collaborate with you.

          7                 MS. GREENBERGER:  Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  With the

          9  Chair's permission, because I, immediately after

         10  this, have to go over to a Board of Standards and

         11  Appeals Hearing in progress, I'm going to ask one

         12  multi- part question.  I think most of which,

         13  hopefully, should require yes or no answers, except,

         14  the Beekman Street School, any update on the time

         15  table?

         16                 Related to that, plans to bring on

         17  line in the Lower Manhattan community, more Beekman

         18  Street Schools and I know there currently are none,

         19  unless you're going to surprise me. So, my question

         20  really is, pursuant to the Chair's suggestion, can

         21  we agree to meet in the very near future to begin to

         22  put together a task force to identify appropriate

         23  spaces?  Because, if we don't do so now or soon,

         24  with all, there'll be no space left with all the

         25  construction which you, Ms. Greenberger, of course,
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          2  are very, very familiar with.  And, if we do so now,

          3  we can be creative of having cost- efficient

          4  solutions.

          5                 Then, finally, following- up on my

          6  question  --

          7                 MS. GREENBERGER:  That's a yes

          8  answer.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, so we

         10  got one out of the three.  The answer to that is yes

         11  and we'll follow- up.

         12                 Following- up on my question to the

         13  Chancellor earlier, gyms and shops at the middle and

         14  high school level.  Is it a policy that they are

         15  considered integral to the plans of new or renovated

         16  schools?  Just as you would not consider creating a

         17  school without a lunchroom, would you consider, as a

         18  matter of policy, creating a school without a

         19  gymnasium or without some industrial arts program?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  As a matter

         21  of policy, every new school should be built with a

         22  gymnasium and all the range of resources, be it

         23  shop, art, dance, what have you.

         24                 As a practical matter, what happens

         25  in our drive to eliminate overcrowding and this, I

                                                            170

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2  spoke earlier about our success in leasing space in

          3  the Bronx.  When you lease space, it's not like

          4  building and you have to take what and work with the

          5  space that you have.  So, we built, have built

          6  schools without gymnasiums.

          7                 Is that the way we want to do it?

          8  No, but we decided that there was a value in having

          9  children in great space, at least, and uncrowded

         10  space in terms of the day.  But, in terms of all of

         11  our new construction, all new schools have a

         12  gymnasium.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And my first

         14  question about Beekman Street?

         15                 MS. GREENBERGER:  I'll go back.  My

         16  understanding is that Forest City Ratner finished

         17  their secret hearings last week.  Design is

         18  underway.  I think as to be able to answer the

         19  question about when construction starts or when it's

         20  done is slightly dependent on Forest City Ratner and

         21  their construction schedule.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  So, we can

         23  cover that in our meeting.

         24                 MS. GREENBERGER:  Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, thank
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          2  you Mr. Chair. I would just add  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You're welcome.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  --  I think

          5  the issue on leasing policies, vis- a- vis gyms and

          6  shops is something which I think this Council needs

          7  to revisit, because, to me, it's unconscionable to

          8  bring on line, whether it's leased or built, new

          9  schools lacking in something as basic as a

         10  gymnasium.  I know with your leadership we'll tackle

         11  that, but  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  --  I thank

         14  you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You're welcome.

         16    Council Member John Liu  --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  Of Queens.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  --  Mr.

         20  Chairman.  I want to congratulate Ms. Greenberger on

         21  her appointment  --

         22                 MS. GREENBERGER:  Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  --  Although I

         24  have not have the privilege of talking with you

         25  about these issues directly, I take comfort in the
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          2  fact that I've heard so many good things about you

          3  and also take comfort in the fact that with Lorraine

          4  Grillo (phonetic) and others at SCA, we'll have some

          5  measure continuity, because I had worked closely

          6  with Bill Goldstein before.  I look forward to

          7  having the same kind of relationship with you.

          8                 I just want to get a sense from you

          9  and Deputy Chancellor Grimm, and I apologize if this

         10  was covered earlier, because I did miss some of the

         11  questions from my colleagues, the general principles

         12  guiding the search for new space.

         13                 In the Five- Year Capital Plan there

         14  have been very specific plans made out and when the

         15  Mayor announced the Five Year Capital Plan,

         16  initially, a couple of years ago at this point, it

         17  was described as a plan that would finally end the

         18  overcrowding in the schools.

         19                 So, is that still the sense today,

         20  two years later, that once this Five- Year Capital

         21  Plan and all the new projects, as well as the

         22  renovations of existing schools, once the entire

         23  Five- Year Capital Plan is completed, that that

         24  statement is still true, that it will end the

         25  overcrowding in this City?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Are there any,

          4  the areas in Queens that we have the most

          5  overcrowding are in high schools  --

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  --  And it's

          8  always been a challenge not so much from a funding

          9  perspective, but more so from a siting perspective.

         10  It doesn't seem like there are that many new high

         11  school building projects in Queens.  I could be

         12  wrong, but it doesn't seem like there has been

         13  enough in the Five- Year Capital Plan to truly

         14  address the severe overcrowding in Queens high

         15  schools.  Am I wrong? Which is perfectly fine, if

         16  I'm wrong, just tell me so.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  The Plan

         18  has 9,900 high school seats needed in Queens.  We

         19  have identified 6,000.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Okay.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  So, I mean,

         22  we still have 3,800 to go, but we're two- thirds

         23  there.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  So, then, how,

         25  but the additional 3,800  --  excuse me  -- is not
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          2  envisioned in the Five- Year Capital Plan?

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Yes.

          4                 MS. GREENBERGER:  Oh yes.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Oh yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Oh, it is?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Okay.  So, in

          9  other words,

         10  there's a certain amount of funding that's set aside

         11  for that, we just don't necessarily have the space

         12  yet.

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Exactly.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I see.  Then, so

         15  how would you go about finding the space?  Is it

         16  really more of a matter of like where is it that the

         17  community would accept it?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  We have

         19  several real estate firms that we have under

         20  contract, who are charged with the responsibility of

         21  finding us space.  Every year, we go and visit the

         22  CECs and we tell them, please partner with us in

         23  terms of looking for space.  Any help that your

         24  offices can give, we are looking for partners on

         25  this siting problem.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Okay.  Thank you

          3  very much. Thank you Mr. Chairman.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You're welcome.

          5    Gale Brewer of Manhattan.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

          7  very much.  I'm wondering if you could provide the

          8  Council with the changes in the Plan as it relates

          9  to CIP projects, like the one I mentioned earlier.

         10  Can you provide that to the Chair and the staff?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  We'll be

         12  happy to provide whatever you need in terms of

         13  understanding what's going on in the Amendment.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Absolutely.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Number two

         17  is, earlier, I think it was Council Member Oddo,

         18  talked about science labs.  I am curious about the

         19  cost of just the basic science lab in a renovated

         20  room, as opposed to a new.  What would be the cost

         21  of that?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  About  --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Obviously a

         24  ball park, because it depends.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Roughly one
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          2  and a half million dollars and, as you say, it

          3  depends.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Per science

          5  lab is one and a half million?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  Then,

          8  a question that came up at the Parks Budget Hearing,

          9  there is different kinds, there are different kinds

         10  of playgrounds.  One is one run by the Department of

         11  Education, one is one run by the Parks Department

         12  and then I think Trust for the Public Land.  Is that

         13  correct?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  There are,

         15  we run them. We are, we run some in partnership with

         16  the Parks Department  --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Correct.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  --  And the

         19  Trust for Public Land is a partner in the Capital

         20  Plan in building  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  --  Some

         23  parks.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I have a bill

         25  on this topic.  The Parks Commissioner said that
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          2  City Hall talks are ongoing, but I'm just wondering

          3  if you've had this discussion about partnering more

          4  with Parks, Trust for Public Land, et cetera?

          5  Because, I think due to the need for exercise, for

          6  all the reasons that we know, a lot of these

          7  playgrounds are closed, except during schools hours.

          8    I think it would enhance the neighborhood and also

          9  the families from that neighborhood to have access

         10  after school and weekends.  Have you thought about

         11  this issue?

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  We are

         13  involved in discussions with the Parks Department.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  Thank

         15  you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Diana Reyna,

         17  did you have any follow- up or should I just go and

         18  ask a couple of questions? Okay, good.

         19                 Deputy Chancellor Grimm, can you

         20  please update the Committee on the state's proposed

         21  changes in building a, as it relates to New York

         22  City, have the new regulations been put in place or

         23  what?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Not yet,

         25  but we are working very closely with the State
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          2  Education Department.  As you know, the legislature

          3  passed legislation a couple of years ago, trying to

          4  right wrong of many years, where the City, on new

          5  capacity, was reimbursed as the level of about 24

          6  percent, as opposed to upstate areas where they were

          7  practically totally reimbursed, because the formula

          8  never took into account the fact that we have to

          9  build vertically and not horizontally and it just

         10  costs a lot more money to buy and to build here.

         11  So, those regulations are not yet in place, but we

         12  fully expect that they will be so that we can claim

         13  that money.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  What is it,

         15  basically, we hear in the news about the building

         16  aid formula.  What are we are we getting 60 percent

         17  reimbursed, 50 percent?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR JACKSON:  We

         19  anticipate it will be 50 percent.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Anticipate it

         21  will be?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  What is it

         24  currently about?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  For new
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          2  capacity it's 24 percent.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So, under the

          4  agreement that was signed into law, we're

          5  anticipating that by, within the next couple of

          6  months, within a year?  When, if you had to guess?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Within the

          8  next year.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  50 percent?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Now, you made a

         12  Powerpoint presentation earlier, can you please

         13  provide a copy of that to us?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Certainly.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I know that, I

         16  think you took that out of your Amendment, is that

         17  correct?

         18                 MS. GREENBERGER:  All the information

         19  in there is incorporated into the Plan.  We just

         20  pulled it out to highlight it for you, but.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, if you

         22  can just send us a copy of that, we'd appreciate it.

         23    Also, now, I know that we met, when I say we,

         24  myself and Jeff Rodus (phonetic) and some staff met

         25  with you and some other staff the other day.  But,
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          2  due to the fact that the Council needs to vote on

          3  this Plan soon, can you please provide our Finance

          4  Division with additional details of any other

          5  changes from the February to the May draft

          6  Amendments?

          7                 Remember we talked about sort of like

          8  a crib sheet, so we could see what the changes were

          9  without trying to go through, I mean how many pages

         10  are in that?  Maybe it's, how many pages is it

         11  about?  About 500 and something, double- sided.  So,

         12  if you can provide that.  How long would it take for

         13  me to really get to know everything in here?  No, if

         14  you can provide us with that, we would really

         15  appreciate it.  And, the sooner the better because

         16   --

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Of course.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  Especially

         19  since I've advised my colleagues concerning projects

         20  in their district, they're to sit down so they can

         21  get an understanding as far as what's the status of

         22  projects in their districts and any suggestions that

         23  they may have as far as to you and vice versa.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Could I

         25  make a suggestion?

                                                            181

          1  FINANCE AND EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Sure.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  If any of

          4  your Members think that a project is no longer in

          5  the Plan, could you get that information to us?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Yeah.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Because  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Very good.  We

          9  will work on that.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  That we

         11  should address right away.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  More

         13  specifically, in that summary sheet, can you

         14  specifically, we want to know what schools were

         15  added and/or dropped in terms of CIPs, you know,

         16  Capital Improvement Projects and as far as whether

         17  or not any schools were added or schools were

         18  dropped, so that we can then focus in those

         19  particular details.  And, if once you not only

         20  identify where the CIPs and schools were added or

         21  dropped, but if you could put the corresponding

         22  district, like District 23, District Six or District

         23  Nine or whatever the district is?  It would be very,

         24  very helpful for us.  Any other questions or

         25  comments.  Well, let me say thank you very much.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  It's been a

          4  great morning and great afternoon.  I look forward

          5  to working with all of you in the future and

          6  congratulations to Sharon and to Steve, especially,

          7  Steve, you're the number two person over at DEP, so

          8  we look forward to working with you.  Let me turn it

          9  over to my Chair of the Finance Committee, David

         10  Weprin.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you Chair

         12  Jackson and Ms. Greenberger, I also want to wish you

         13  good luck and I'm sure you'll be hearing from myself

         14  as well as a number of my colleagues as you

         15  progress.

         16                 The next session will be joint with

         17  the General Welfare Committee.  Why don't we just

         18  take a two minute break, since we're already behind

         19  schedule and we'll co-convene with the General

         20  Welfare Committee Chaired by Bill de Blasio.

         21                 (This portion of the hearing

         22  concluded at 1:35 p.m.)
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